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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CRIMINAL DIVISION 

 
People of the State of Illinois   ) 
  Plaintiff   ) 
  v.    ) No. 12 CR 22504-01 
Linda Shelton     ) 
  Defendant   ) Judge Dianne Cannon 
      )  presiding 
 
 
MOTION TO REDUCE BAIL TO COMPLY WITH ILLINOIS CONSTITUTION OR IN 

THE ALTERNATIVE, IF REFUSE FULL AND FAIR HEARING,  
AN OFFER OF PROOF 

 
 NOW COMES, the Defendant, Linda L. Shelton, Pro Se who respectfully moves as 

above and in support of states as follows: 

NOTE: All transcripts for dates of hearings mentioned herein are attached to this document. 

 The Illinois Constitution bars unreasonable bail. The Americans with disability act 

requires that accommodation is made for disabilities. The law prohibits physically attacking or 

verbally harassing a disabled person. Due to all of these issues, Shelton’s bail is excessive and 

constitutionally unreasonable. In summary: 

1. Bail was set without jurisdiction as there was no probable cause (although Judge Cannon 

disagrees – Shelton believes that there is pervasive violation of the U.S. Constitutional 

Bill of Rights and Constitutional Suspension Clause, violation of the Due Process Clause 

of the Illinois Constitution, Violation of Illinois Fitness and Bail Statutes, as well as 

pervasive violation of her civil rights under color of law in this case); 

2. Bail was set in violation of federally required ADA disability accommodations, as 

Shelton was in severe pain, dehydrated and totally unaware of what was going on at first 
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during initial bond hearing on 11/30/20121, unconstitutionally not present during VOBB 

hearing on 04/01/2013, and denied due process when latest $300,000  bail set on 

1/22/2014 – an illegal order in violation of Illinois Case Law, Illinois Bail Statutes, the 

Illinois Constitution, and the U.S. Constitution Suspension Clause and Due Process 

Clauses of the 5th and 14th Amendment as applied to the states; 

3. Bail was set without any interview of Shelton by Asst. Public Defender prior to bond 

hearing on 11/30/2012 or VOBB hearing on 04/01/2013; 

4. Bail was set without regard to indigency, at any time, despite court being informed that 

Shelton was receiving food stamps and Medicaid – an illegal 08/15/14 order by Judge 

Reddick, that Judge Cannon unconstitutionally affirmed on 08/12/2015; 

5. Bail was set in violation of the Illinois Constitution Article I Section 9 requiring 

reasonable bail and in excess of U.S. Constitution’s 5th and 14th Amendments’ Due 

Process Clauses requiring reasonable bail. 

A. REGARDING LACK OF JURISDICTION AND REFUSAL OF ASSISTANT 
PUBLIC DEFENDER (“APD”) TO TALK WITH SHELTON 

 
Shelton re-asserts her motion to strike case, vacate charges for lack of probable cause, or  

in alternative certify questions to Illinois appellate [should be Illinois Supreme] court under rule 

308, or in the alternative offer of proof, motion to quash case due to fraud upon the grand jury or 

in the alternative supplement to motion to strike case, vacate charges for lack of probable cause, 

or in alternative certify questions to Illinois appellate [should be Illinois Supreme] court under 

rule 308, and  motion to declare the Illinois battery and aggravated battery statutes 

unconstitutional or in the alternative to certify question for review by Illinois appellate [should 

                                                           
1 See Transcripts for dates listed in this document [T 2012/11/30 = transcript for 11/30/2012] 
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be Illinois Supreme] court under ISCR 308. Although these motions were ignored by the 

Assistant Public Defender [submitted as an offer of proof when she was represented by them, as 

proof of what she would have filed if not illegally denied Faretta rights at the time] and by 

Judges Cannon and Reddick, but later some heard when refiled, but unconstitutionally denied, 

this lack of jurisdiction is submitted here as an offer of proof for appeal, as well as above offers 

of proof and motions are incorporated hear in this document as if part of this motion. 

 Judge Cannon has denied Shelton’s wish to appeal denial of the motion to quash case due 

to fraud upon the grand jury … and motion to declare the Illinois battery  … statutes 

unconstitutional … before trial by refusing to comply with ISCR 304. After denial of motion to 

declare Illinois battery and aggravated battery statutes unconstitutional …. and later motion to 

modify and clarify this resulting 07/13/2016 in order to comply with Illinois Supreme Court Rule 

(“ISCR”) 304(a) - granted by Judge Cannon on 12/09/2016, Judge Cannon still refused to sign a 

compliant order, even when it was respectfully presented to her on 3/16/2018 (Exhibit A – at 

which time Judge Cannon first yelled at her clerk for trying to present it to her in chambers 

during a break and then irrationally stated that she was not going to send the case to the Illinois 

Supreme Court, although the suggested order to sign said no such thing. (T 1/26/2018 p 42 

line 21 - p43 line 14) This inability, on the record on - T 01/26/2018 starting at p 42 lie 23 

until the end of the transcript, of Judge Cannon to understand a simple properly written 

suggested legal order (Exhibit A), along with Judge Cannon’s pervasive verbal abuse and 

threats against Shelton, is documented in transcripts sent to Chief Judge Evans on appeal 

of denial of disability grievance submitted to the CDC and denied in May 2018. The 

transcripts with a summary of this bizarre behavior by Judge Cannon are attached to a 

Motion for SOJ for Cause to be heard June 8, 2018 by Judge Wadas. This mental 
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incapacity exhibited by Judge Cannon caused Shelton concerns that Judge Cannon, as 

Shelton has observed during entire last 5 and ½ years of proceedings, was suffering from 

an early dementia – resulting in irritability, confabulation, failure to remember new 

information that she stated five minutes before, and failure to logically follow new trains of 

thought, possibly caused by a serious medical condition and subsequent medical treatments 

(chemotherapy? = chemo brain, as there is a rumor that Judge Cannon was absent for 9+ months 

from the court in 2014, in addition to the fact that Judge Cannon lost so much weight and her 

appearance changed so drastically that Shelton did not recognize her when Judge Cannon 

returned to her duties in the courthouse in 11/2014). To date, Judge Evans has failed in his 

supervisory duty to address this issue in a rational legal fashion and a civil complaint for 

declaratory and injunctive relief regarding this misconduct of the Chief Judge Evans and mental 

incapacity of Judge Cannon is pending in the Illinois Appellate Court, case 18-0798. 

B. REGARDING NO ACCOMMODATION OF DISABILITIES DURING BOND 
HEARING OR SETTING OF BAIL AND REFUSAL OF APD TO TALK 
WITH SHELTON 
 

During initial bond hearing before Judge Desierto on 11/30/2012 in this case, no 

accommodations were made for disabilities, which due to severe pain, dehydration, and lack 

of adequate sleep, caused Shelton to be slow thinking and confused initially. Shelton was starved 

due to the jail not providing necessary medical diet, as well as in great pain as the jail refused to 

provide necessary medical care at the proper doses and times. Jail Staff refused to allow Shelton 

to talk to the Court Disability Coordinator (“CDC”) Pacelli prior to the initial court appearance, 

so as to inform the new judge Desierto of her needed disability accommodations. NO Asst. 

Public Defender made any attempt to speak to Shelton about this new case, 12-1133456, 

later superseded by indictment and a new case number 12CR22504 (See case file for 
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information and indictment) at the Jail or in the Courthouse on this new case prior to the bond 

hearing on 11/30/12, so that Judge Desierto was not fully informed of needed disability 

accommodations.  

Judge Desierto, on 11/30/12,, despite Shelton being in a wheelchair refused to ask 

Shelton about her disabilities and if accommodations were needed and Shelton was too ill 

and stressed, not having been informed that she was arrested on a new charge, not having 

been informed of any charges against her by anyone, not having been given notice of the 

hearing, as no one from the Sheriff staff to the Public Defender’s office told her about it, to be 

able to fully appreciate the entire situation at the time. Shelton said: “What? What? I have 

no idea what is going on?” after Judge Desierto announced that he had appointed a public 

defender for the hearing. (T 11/30/12 p2 line 4-8) Judge Desierto then went on with the bond 

hearing while Shelton slowly began to realize she was under a new arrest for an unknown charge 

and that the Assistant Public Defender was speaking for her, but knew nothing about her. 

C. REGARDING PUBLIC DEFENDERS FAILURE TO INTERVIEW SHELTON  

The public defenders had no information about Shelton and did not request a recess 

to obtain this information. NO Asst. Public Defender made any attempt to speak to Shelton at 

the Jail or in the Courthouse on this new case prior to the bond hearing. Shelton did not hear or 

mentally process what was going on during the bond hearing for several minutes, due to 

pain, dehydration, and lack of sleep, leading to confusion, until she heard someone state 

incorrectly that she has several “failures to appear” (T 11/30/12 p 4 line 8) – at which point 

Shelton loudly state “No, I don’t have six failures to appear” (T 11/30/12 p 4 lines 9-10).  

The State on the transcript for 11/30/12 describes the alleged offense, without 

stating anything about disability accommodations or PTSD flashbacks, prior to the point that 
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Shelton began to mentally process and hear what was going on. (T 11/30/12 p4 line 1-7). The 

hearing proceeded at lightning speed, without regard as to if Shelton understood what was 

going on, despite Shelton’s clear disabilities. 

At this point Shelton asked to address the Bond Court Judge repeatedly. (T 11/30/12 

p4 line 19) in order to try to understand what was going on better, figure out what she was 

accused of, and make sure the judge knew that the Asst. Public Defender had never talked with 

her prior to the hearing. The court players said something about fingerprinting and Shelton, then 

understood that they were asking to fingerprint her – to which she told the court that would cause 

pain. Judge Desierto made no effort to ask about Shelton’s disabilities or how they could be 

accommodated, causing Shelton to have heightened fear, as the Sheriff Deputies had brutally 

attacked her on several occasions as stated later in this document, causing her to suffer increased 

pain and fear of serious injury. 

D. REGARDING NO PROBABLE CAUSE 

Sheriff Asst. Chief Willian Nolan, in charge of Courtroom Deputies in the Daley 

Center at the time in 2009, admitted in a memorandum on 9/4/2009 (Exhibit B) that he had 

without any legal authority ordered his Courtroom Deputies to harass Shelton, fraudulently 

claiming that this was because of Shelton’s undefined “past disruptive behavior while in Cook 

County facilities”. This alleged behavior amounted to firm verbal insistence that the Court Clerk 

or Judge “follow the law”, or in the jail when Shelton verbally frantically yelled at officers on 

numerous occasions to stop beating her, to allow her to call her disabled father who was left at 

home alone when she was arrested and arrange for his care, to stop laughing at an inmate who 

suffered a seizure and needed medical care or was pregnant and fainted,  to allow her to speak to 

a doctor or social worker to arrange for appropriate medical care, a medical diet, and disability 
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accommodations, to arrange for procurement of paper and pen, and access to law research 

materials, and a method to contact the court in several civil cases to explain why she was unable 

to attend a hearing, thus causing dismissal for want of prosecution, which was unconstitutionally 

unfair, harming Shelton under color of law.  

Deputies have, as a result of Asst. Chief Nolan’s fraudulent and illegal order to harass 

Shelton in around early 2009, for over six months, would not let Shelton enter or go around in 

the Daley Center to attend to her business and visit the law library without an armed escort 

within feet of her. They purposely stepped in front of her so she would bump them with her 

walker numerous times (see Exhibit F); resulting in numerous false arrests and malicious 

prosecutions, falsely and maliciously calling her a “judicial threat” in their incident or arrest 

reports (Exhibit C). The deputies verbally stated to Shelton that they were told she was in a 

“judicial threat book”, which they also wrote on their incident reports. 

Retired Judge Batstone, assistant to Chief Judge Evans, at the time, wrote on 9/16/2009 

an affidavit (Exhibit D) that “I am aware of no written or recorded complaints against Dr. 

Linda Shelton or Linda Shelton in possession of the Office of the Chief Judge Timothy C. 

Evans or any other personnel working in the Office of the Chief Judge.” First Deputy Sheriff 

Kevin Connelly also wrote in an affidavit on 10/9/2009 (Exhibit E) that “I can attest that 

there is no list or other compendium official sanctioned by the Cook County Sheriff’s 

Office that exists in print, online, or otherwise in which Dr. Linda Shelton has been 

described or is listed as a danger, threat, or person of interest. 

As a result of malicious defamation of Shelton first by Asst. Chief Sheriff Lyon to 

his staff and judges at the Bridgeview Courthouse in 2002-2005 (when Shelton prevailed pro 

se, at trial,  in case 02CR28530, after trial moved to the Markham courthouse before Judge 
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Rhodes, in a malicious and false arrest for felony battery of an officer), then by Asst. Chief 

Nolan to his Courtroom Deputy Staff and judges at the Daley Center courthouse, in 

retaliation for Shelton’s complaints about corrupt Sheriff Staff, Prosecutors, and Judges, Shelton 

was falsely arrested without probable cause numerous times and maliciously prosecuted 

numerous times (Exhibit F).  

Nine habeas petition illegally were ignored – see 17CH10838 – which discusses case 

numbers: 09-M1-223774, 09-M1-258392, 09-M1-260590, 09-M1-261096, 09-M1-286184  09-

M1-238219, 11-M1-241978, and 12CR22504, all with still pending habeas petitions where the 

Court Clerk has refused with accomplices Judges Evans, Biebel, and Wright to give civil 

habeas numbers and schedule habeas petitions filed with the Clerk for hearing in 6/2012 

(seven of them) and in 9/2012 and 12/2012 in this case – they all are still languishing in their 

respective criminal court files. These illegal acts by the Court Clerk and judges as named, 

essentially eliminate without jurisdiction the U. S. Constitution’s Suspension Clause, The 

Illinois Constitution Habeas Clause and Illinois Habeas Statutes under the Illinois Code of 

Civil Procedure.  

This misconduct and federal criminal acts against Shelton under color of law by Sheriff 

Staff, the Court Clerk, and the Judges, occurred, apparently, in retaliation for Shelton prevailing 

in a suit for injunction, Cook County case number 04 CH 15787, against Sheriff Sheahan for 

violating federal ADA law, which Shelton won, pro se, in 2005, in the public interest – forcing 

the Sheriff to write ADA compliance plans for the courthouse – which they had refused to do 

and were therefore in non-compliance with federal law for at least a decade, for Shelton’s 

complaints accompanied by dozens of affidavits from inmates, to the U.S. DOJ Civil Rights 

Division, specifically AUSA Joan Laser, for ADA violations at Cook County Jail which helped 
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resulted in a 17 month investigation and a 98 page scathing letter to the Sheriff about pervasive 

civil rights violations at the Jail, and for Shelton’s attempted federal civil rights suits against the 

Court Clerk and Sheriff Staff for violation of civil rights, false arrests and malicious 

prosecutions, as well as for a number of other instances of providing the DOJ with useful 

information about corruption of politicians, Sheriff Staff , and other players in the Illinois and 

Cook County justice system and alleged corrupt political “machine”, involving persons such as 

Orlando Jones – a Stroger Sr. “lieutenant” in the machine (committed suicide before Shelton 

needed to testify), John Stroger (now deceased), and un-named others. 

The CDC was given information about Shelton’s disabilities written by Drs. Galatzer-

Levy, Richard Rappaport, Joanne Briller, Boris Vern and others (previously provided to this 

Court numerous times -See joint Exhibits- previously filed with this court P, Q and R, in 

court file and motion to quash case for fraud upon  the grand jury . . . Exhibit A-D). The 

CDC stated to Shelton in her emails that she shared this information with the  Courtroom 

deputies and Judges Chiampas and Cannon, but was not specific in the description of exactly 

what she shared, what she said, and whom she spoke with or emailed. Without knowing this 

information,  Shelton is unable to defend herself as this information is critical to her 

defense and to obtaining the names of witnesses needed in her defense. 

Sheriff deputies misusing or ignoring this information caused Shelton to suffer a 

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (“PTSD”)  flashback just prior to alleged offense, during 

which the above doctors in their reports and letters stated that “Shelton misperceives 

ongoing events” when she is in a PTSD flashback. This altered state of mind (which is not 

psychosis but is a daytime dream state of mind, where the brain replaces reality with a reliving 

of a previous traumatic event) causes a person to be unable to form intent. PTSD flashbacks 
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have a prodrome period where Shelton gets loudly and verbally defensive, but has NEVER 

been violent despite the defamation against her and the unconstitutional and malicious criminal 

violations of her civil rights including: 

• wrongful convictions for battery in 2007, case number 05CR12718  (See endnote i-

doctors testimony prove Shelton was physically incapable of performing the alleged 

crime in 2007 wrongful conviction for aggravated battery to an officer – alleged  

purposefully “bumping an Sgt. Salemi with her wheelchair”, and Sgt. Anthony Salemi 

committed clear perjury as is facially apparent on the record-he came into her cell 

after shooing away the female guard so there would be no witnesses, against the policy 

of the jail for men not to enter women’s cells alone, lunged at Shelton, grabbing her neck 

while saying, “I’m going to make a case so you don’t get out”, choked her by the neck 

and then flipped her out of the broken wheelchair. The wheelchair lurched backwards 

and spun a bit due to his momentum in lunging at Shelton so Salemi lost his balance and 

slid down to his knees, skinning his shins on the wheelchair footrests in a linear 

vertical fashion about mid-shin, which proves his testimony in court was false. If 

Shelton had bumped him, starting at a full stop a few feet away while he was staring at 

her, as was his testimony, he would have two small horizontal bruises near ankle 

level, which he did not suffer. In addition, as Shelton has congenitally weak arms and 

the wheelchair was broken, it was physically impossible for her to move the wheelchair 

hard and fast enough to get up to speed in a few feet and surprise an experience Sergeant 

while he was staring at her enough to injure him by bumping him. This was also testified 

to by Shelton’s neurologist and unrefuted by the State. Salemi stated that the cell doors 

remained open three times during his testimony; yet another guard testified for Shelton 
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that the cell doors have hydraulic mechanisms that cause them to automatically close, 

again proving Salemi’s perjury. Salemi testified that Shelton kicked him in the chest 

with both feet while he was standing, a physical impossibility ass Shelton suffers a 

partial right-sided hemiparesis where she for years had been unable to raise her right leg 

above her waist, unrefuted by competent testimony and affirmed as impossible by 

Shelton’s neurologist, who the court declared an expert witness, which again proved his 

perjury. The law required that when a doctor testifies that if his testimony is 

unrefuted as to medical condition, then it must be believed unless the other litigant 

introduces testimony from another physician refuting the doctor’s statements [see: 

re B.D. and B.D., Minors,  2001 Ill App (1st) 1000084 ¶ 11 that: “In fact, where such 

medical evidence is not offset or contradicted by other competent medical evidence, the 

court cannot disregard it”. In re Ashley K., 212 Ill. App. 3d 849, 890 (1991) (it is error 

for the court to "second-guess medical experts")]). Yet the jury, influenced by closing 

statements lies by the States Attorney denigrating the doctors and telling them to ignore 

the physician testimony (attorney misconduct) did ignore this testimony and convict out 

of bias and the judge also ignored these irrefutable facts in allowing this conviction and 

essentially ignoring all arguments in post-trial motion. This was a serious abuse of 

judicial discretion, attorney misconduct, ineffective assistance of counsel, and a major 

injustice against Shelton, which eventually must be overturned and Salemi must be 

brought to justice for committing perjury and aggravated battery of a handicapped 

person;  

• wrongful conviction for misdemeanor battery, in case number 11M1241978 – with 

stacked false charges of trespass to state supported land (Daley Center – charge facially 
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invalid as missing claim of interrupted a person’s use of the building, a required 

element of such charge), false charge of battery for “pushing walker against Deputy 

Sheriff Ateca while Shelton was sitting on a bench outside a courtroom after delivering a 

message from a civil litigant that he was being taken by ambulance to a hospital due to a 

work accident and possible spinal injury so would have to reschedule hearing (perjury as 

D/S Ateca had been told to harass Shelton by A/C/ Nolan and therefore walked in front 

of Shelton when Shelton was walking to an elevator, thus accidentally bumping D/S 

Ateca’s ankle), resisting arrest (a lie, Shelton tremulous and spastic due to neurologic 

disease so calling this resisting arrest is obscene), and disorderly conduct (again perjury 

by D/S Ateca) (see endnote ii); and  

• wrongful convictions for contempt of court, case numbers  ACC 100083, 93, and 94 (see 

endnote iii-Judge McHale, unconstitutionally, in violation of numerous United States 

Supreme Court holdings, charged and illegally summarily sentenced Shelton to 16 

months in jail for three instances in one case of same verbal statement against his 

gross judicial misconduct, in which  Shelton verbally defended self against three 

unlawfully charged cases, instead of required three counts, of contempt, which actually 

was not contempt according to case law, where Shelton was actually innocent).  

This PTSD flashback state of mind, along with Shelton’s neurological balance, tremor, 

and spasticity issues, as noted in medical records of above doctors given to the CDC (motion to 

quash case for fraud upon  the grand jury . . . Exhibits A-D- previously filed with this 

court), causes Shelton to involuntarily reach out and grab something when she is pushed or 

grabbed. That is why she uses a walker, as prescribed by physician specialists in 

rehabilitation medicine and physical therapist (whose reports were included in medical 
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records given to CDC, as well as attached to a civil suit against Judge Cannon and many other 

judges, 17CH10838, appeal of dismissal which is now pending) prior to the alleged criminal 

incident. This alone is enough to prove lack of probable cause. Judge Desierto was very 

unaware of this information in summarily holding that there was probable cause. This is fraud 

upon the bond court by the Asst. States Attorney. 

E. REGARDING INDIGENCY 

Shelton has been receiving food stamps and Medicaid benefits since 2011; therefore, 

under Illinois law she is indigent. Yet Judge Desierto made no inquiry about Shelton’s ability 

to pay bond. This is a violation of the Bail Clause of the Illinois Constitution Article I, 

Section 9, and of Illinois Bail Statutes, 725 ILCS 5/110-1, et seq, and now Cook County 

Court General Order No. 18.8A - Procedures for Bail Hearings and Pretrial Release.  A 

recent class-action suit about bail being inappropriately high in Cook County and indigent people 

languishing in jail, case number 16CH13587, has caused Cook County Prosecutor Foxx to 

publicly state, with agreement of Chief Judge Evans through, Cook County Court General Order 

No. 18.8A, that SA Foxx was correcting her policy concerning bail and working with the courts 

to make bail constitutionally reasonable. However, SA Foxx has forgotten about and ignored 

those already on bail, yet with unreasonable and excessive bail like Shelton. The only reason 

Shelton is not languishing in jail for the past six years is that in 2013 she received from Social 

Security $30,000 in back pay that they failed to pay her in Social Security Disability payments, 

after Shelton won appeal of denial of benefits, which Shelton used to pay the bail and get out 

from under the torture at the jail (medical neglect and battery). 

Shelton lives in a 3rd-floor walk-up condominium and uses a walker. Shelton is 

unable to carry anything up the stairs and has increasing difficulty getting up and down 
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the stairs, and now has assistance of a home health aide twice a week, to assist with bathing, 

housework, and shopping. It is essential that she move to a more suitable housing 

arrangement. 

 SHELTON NEEDS THE $30,000 BOND MONEY IMMEDIATELY IN ORDER 

TO MOVE TO A MORE SUITABLE HOUSING ARRANGEMENT.   

Shelton was evicted, from the home SHE INHERITED A LIFE INTEREST IN, and 

her house ransacked and property stolen, while unconstitutionally jailed in 2013, due to a 

scheme from corrupt attorneys, Howard Helsinger, Timothy Ritchey, Kerry Peck, Aaron 

Gole, to steal the estate, particularly Shelton’s inheritance, when Shelton was unable to 

appear in civil eviction court, due to the unconstitutional refusal of Sheriff to allow Shelton as 

a detainee to contact the courts in a timely fashion and therefore, to prove that the eviction, 

12CH730975, carried out while Shelton was illegally jailed by this court, was: 

 (1) res judicata, because it was opposite of another eviction case, 11M5904,  illegally 

brought in 2011. In 2012, Shelton’s property stored in the condominium at 4020 W. 105th St., 

while she cared for and lived with her dying father in the family residence from 2006 to 2010, 

and at the time the condominium renter were illegally evicted from condominium, from where 

Shelton is now living, where Shelton had previously lived until she moved into the family home 

to care for her father in 2006. This eviction was illegally ordered by Judge Riley, in an order 

written ex parte BEFORE the case, 11M5904,  was transferred to him from Bridgeview 

courthouse, thus making the order void (from the condominium to the home, which her father 

wished her to inherit a life interest, at 9905 S. Kilbourn) In case 12CH730975, Shelton was 

unlawfully evicted FROM HER HOME BACK TO THE CONDOMINIUM and some  

papers and random furniture were placed into the condo, by Shelton’s mentally ill sister, 
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named as the family trust’s trustee, not by her father, but by a forged trust concocted by 

the criminal attorneys listed above, (without any input from Shelton as to what was Shelton’s 

personal property and what was estate property – essentially grand theft and unlawful 

conversion) and the house fraudulently sold while Shelton was jailed in 2013-2014-with the 

Sheriff prohibiting her from defending against this outrageous criminal act and the APD 

refusing to address this issue or report it to appropriate policing authorities in violation of 

Rules of Professional Conduct 8.4), and  

(2) was unlawful based on a forged document (Exhibit G is first page & forged signed 

page of a trust document with attached proof of the forgery), and  

(3) THE SISTER AND/OR HER ATTORNEYS STOLE THE RECORD ON 

APPEAL in probate case number 10P6117 and consolidated with it the 1st eviction case, 

11M5940, which Shelton was using to write an appeal to right this injustice and hold the 

criminal attorneys named above responsible. The APDs refused to assist Shelton in dealing with 

this serious matter. Shelton’s Power of Attorney was later able to recover the Record on Appeal 

in 10P6117 and return it to the Appellate Court, while Shelton was still unlawfully jailed in 

2013-2014. 

Attorneys Kerry Peck and Timothy Ritchey of Peck Bloom, LLC, bribed Judge James 

Riley (Exhibit H-note that their law firm and their children all contributed along with them 

small amounts adding up to 1/10 of Judge Riley’s total campaign funds for his campaign 

for a seat on the Illinois Supreme Court- thus a significant influence requiring recusal) at 

the time of the hearing in 2012 on the eviction to ignore Shelton’s written evidence of forgery - 

transcripts where Shelton’s sister admits in court in another case she is too mentally ill to 

handle her father’s affairs and their father admits he doesn’t want the sister to handle his 
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affairs and only wants Shelton to do so (Exhibit I) and criminal exploitation of Shelton’s 

mentally ill sister (the sister admits in testimony during sentencing hearing in 05CR211718, as 

well as Shelton’s father affirmed in testimony at that time that the sister was too mentally ill to 

care for the family trust and the father wished that only Shelton would manage it after his death), 

whose name these offending attorneys used to replace Shelton as Trustee of a family Trust (copy 

of original and forged amended trust will be brought to court during hearing if needed to prove 

this-pertinent sections attached as Exhibit G). 

These corrupt attorneys had motive to prevent Shelton from accessing the civil courts and 

this Court went along with this fraudulent arrest, 13DV50121, using it to raise bail to 

unconstitutional “no bail”, violating Illinois Bail statutes, which is now also in violation of Cook 

County Court General Order 18.8(a) (Exhibit J). 

F. REGARDING CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY VIOLATIONS 

Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class, in a recent class action suit against Cook County judges 

for setting unreasonable bail for indigent persons, sought a declaration of the unconstitutionality 

of the Judicial Defendants' practice of applying Illinois's bail statute, 725 ILCS 5/110-1, et seq. 

("the Statute"), to set a monetary bail for pretrial arrestees without a meaningful inquiry into 

the person's ability to pay and in amounts in excess of what the person is able to pay. 

Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff classes complain that this practice violates their rights under the Equal 

Protection and Due Process Clauses of the United States and Illinois Constitutions, U.S. Const., 

amend. XIV, Ill. Const.1970, art. I, § 2, and under the Excessive Bail and Sufficient Sureties 

Clauses of the United States and Illinois Constitutions respectively, U.S. Const., amend VIII, Ill. 

Const. 1970, art. I, § 9. (Cook County Court case number 16CH13587) 
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 Shelton is complaining about the same thing in her pending Civil Rights suit against 

Judges Cannon, Desierto, Reddick, Martin, Evans, and others, including States Attorney Foxx, 

18CH10838, now on appeal, case 18-0798. Judge Cannon and the other defendants, including 

States Attorney Foxx were served in that case, so they are fully aware of the arguments prior to 

this motion. Therefore, Shelton simply fully incorporates the complaint in 18CH10838, in this 

motion as if part of it. The ASA in this courtroom should contact ASA Arnold, who represents 

Judge Cannon, to view a copy of the complaint. 

 Therefore, Shelton objects to the States Attorney and Judge Cannon participating in this 

case due to conflicts of interest. 

 Note: that when the case used to raise bail, 13DV50121, was nolle prosequi’d on 

7/30/2013, the reason to make a finding of VOBB and to raise bail no longer existed and 

this Court was obligated to reduce the bail at that time from no bail to the original 

$150,000, which was not done. Judge Reddick ignored the fact that a nolle prosequi order 

vacates an arrest. People v. Tannenbaum, 218 Ill. App. 3d 500 (1991) 

WHEREFORE, Shelton moves for this Court to reconsider bail for reasons described 

above. First the court should quash the case for lack of probable cause, fraud upon the grand 

jury, and unconstitutionality of the charges [as stated above].  

Even, as this will not be done due to previous rulings of this court, the bail is still 

unreasonable and was set unconstitutionally. It should be immediately reduced to $5000 or less, 

after a full and fair bond hearing is held according to Illinois Statutes, Federal ADA rules, 

Illinois Bail Statutes, and the Illinois Constitution Art I, Section 9, and U.S. Constitutional 

Amendments 5 and 14 as applied to the states regarding due process. ALL previous bail orders 

should be stricken. 
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NOTE: According to ISCRs Rule 63 (Judicial Canon 3) (A9) [regarding accommodating 

disabilities], B(3)(a) [regarding requirement that judges who are informed of or witness illegal 

conduct by players in the court should report them to  appropriate authorities for discipline], and 

C(1). [regarding disqualification of judge or self-removal when impartiality might reasonably be 

questioned or there is an appearance of prejudice or bias], Judge Cannon is obligated to report 

the above stated judicial and attorney misconduct to appropriate authorities and to recuse 

herself, as she is biased as detailed in Motion for Substitution of Judge filed in April 2018. 

Illinois Supreme Court “Comments” for ISCR 63 state as follows:  

In the case of misconduct by lawyers, the Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 
8.4, contains the circumstances of misconduct that are covered by paragraph 
ISCR 63 B(3). This canon requires a judge to take or initiate appropriate 
disciplinary measures where he or she has knowledge of a violation of Rule 8.4. 
Where misconduct by an attorney is involved, a finding of contempt may, in 
appropriate circumstances, constitute the initiation of appropriate disciplinary 
measures. Furthermore, in both cases, the rule does not preclude a judge from 
taking or initiating more than a single appropriate disciplinary measure. 
Additionally, a judge may have a statutory obligation to report unprofessional 
conduct which is also criminal to an appropriate law enforcement official. 
 

ARTICLE VIII. ILLINOIS RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT OF 2010 state as follows: 
 

RULE 8.3: REPORTING PROFESSIONAL MISCONDUCT 
      (a) A lawyer who knows that another lawyer has committed a violation of Rule 8.4(b) 
or Rule 8.4(c) shall inform the appropriate professional authority. 
      (b) A lawyer who knows that a judge has committed a violation of applicable rules of 
judicial conduct that raises a substantial question as to the judge’s fitness for office shall 
inform the appropriate authority. 
 
RULE 8.3 Illinois Supreme Court Comments: 
      [1] Self-regulation of the legal profession requires that members of the profession 
initiate disciplinary investigation when they know of a violation of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct. See In re Himmel, 125 Ill. 2d 531 (1988). Lawyers have a similar 
obligation with respect to judicial misconduct. An apparently isolated violation may 
indicate a pattern of misconduct that only a disciplinary investigation can uncover. 
Reporting a violation is especially important where the victim is unlikely to discover the 
offense. . . . 
      [3] If a lawyer were obliged to report every violation of the Rules, the failure to report 
any violation would itself be a professional offense. Such a requirement existed in many 
jurisdictions but proved to be unenforceable. This Rule limits the reporting obligation to 
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those offenses that a self-regulating profession must vigorously endeavor to prevent. A 
measure of judgment is, therefore, required in complying with the provisions of this Rule. 
A report should be made to the Illinois Attorney Registration and Disciplinary 
Commission unless some other agency is more appropriate in the circumstances. 
See Skolnick v. Altheimer & Gray, 191 Ill. 2d 214 (2000). Similar considerations apply to 
the reporting of judicial misconduct…. 
       
RULE 8.4: MISCONDUCT 
It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 
      (a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly 
assist or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another. 
      (b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer’s honesty, 
trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects. 
      (c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 
misrepresentation. 
      (d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice…. 
      (f) knowingly assist a judge or judicial officer in conduct that is a violation of 
applicable rules of judicial conduct or other law…. 
      (j) violate a federal, state or local statute or ordinance that prohibits 
discrimination based on … disability, … or socioeconomic status by conduct that 
reflects adversely on the lawyer’s fitness as a lawyer.  
 

 
 12CR22504  MOTION TO REDUCE BAIL TO COMPLY WITH ILLINOIS CONSTITUTION OR IN THE 
ALTERNATIVE, IF REFUSE FULL AND FAIR HEARING, AN OFFER OF PROOF 
ENDNOTE i:  
 
SHELTON alleges the conviction for battery, Cook County Court case 05 CR 12718, was 
wrongful, violating precedent, and that the incident causing the conviction occurred while she 
was wrongfully jailed on a conviction for contempt which SHELTON alleges occurred as follows:  
Judge Pantle claimed illegally that stating the Court was illegally holding her for trial and 
arguing such was contempt, in a Medicaid Fraud case against SHELTON, case number 04 CR 
17571, where SHELTON was eventually found NOT GUILTY by a jury 
 
While illegal jailed for contempt, SHELTON testified that she was attacked by Sgt. Salemi in 
retaliation for prevailing in a suit for injunction against the Sheriff, case number 04 CH 15787, 
four weeks prior to incident of alleged battery date of 5/16/05, that Salemi falsified his 
records and said she attacked him, and then Salemi committed perjury at trial in 05 CR 12718 . 
 
Sgt. Anthony Salemi, on May 16, 2005,while SHELTON was severely dehydrated and weak, due 
to a dry hunger strike protest – for not allowing her to phone DR. LORINCZ and arrange for his 
care,  in a broken and hard to push wheelchair, sent away a female unit guard and entered 
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SHELTON’s cell alone (against CCDOC policy), [and in an act suggesting retaliation for the court 
case where four (4) weeks before this incident SHELTON prevailed in a suit for injunction 
against Cook County Sheriff Sheahan for violation of the FOIA in regards to releasing 
information about the court’s ADA compliance plan (they didn’t want to release it because 
they were in violation of federal ADA law in not having a plan for courthouses), CCCC case # 04 
CH 15787], stating “I’m going to make a case so you don’t get out.” Salemi then grabbed 
SHELTON by the neck and ATTACKED HER, stumbling and skinning his mid-shin (a vertical 
superficial abrasion on both shins) because the wheelchair lurched backwards with the force of 
him lunging at her and grabbing her neck, causing him to slide downward against the 
wheelchair footrests.. 
 
Salemi then ripped the wheelchair out from under SHELTON while he flipped her onto the 
floor and attacked her, injuring her as documented in trial transcript of stipulated testimony 
of a nurse causing HUGE 3 INCH BY 4-6 INCH CONTUSIONS BETWEEN AND ON THE BACK OF 
HER THIGHS and contusions, due to posts for armrests which were missing and on her knee 
and toes which were caught in the wheelchair footrests.  
 
This traumatized SHELTON so much, thinking he would kill or rape her, that she developed 
post-traumatic-stress disorder (“PTSD”), which plagues her to this day, particularly because it 
rekindled flashbacks (severe frequent nightmares and daytime dreamlike states where she is 
briefly out of touch with reality) of SHELTON’s brother sexually assaulting and terrorizing her 
repeatedly, when she was 12 yrs. old.  
 
SALEMI THEN FALSIFIED HIS RECORDS and said while he was staring at SHELTON, from a dead 
stop in the middle of the cell a few feet away from him, SHELTON accelerated the wheelchair 
using her congenitally weak arms and the broken wheelchair, caught him “off guard” and 
“bounced the wheelchair against him” – (inconsistent with his injury of a vertical superficial 
abrasion at middle of his shins – such an act would have caused a horizontal bruise from the 
wheelchair footrests)  despite the fact SHELTON’s physicians (a cardiologist and neurologist), 
the only physician witnesses said this was impossible due to SHELTON’s weakness and 
neurological disorder.   
 
A BRADY VIOLATION occurred as since the secure jail and its staff had possession of the 
BROKEN WHEELCHAIR WHICH THEY CALLED A WEAPON and DID NOT PRESERVE IT upon a 
timely request from SHELTON, it was not available for trial to prove it was broken and could 
not be accelerated fast enough to injure Salemi. As it was in the jail, it was insincere for the 
State to claim they did not control it. 
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In incident report Salemi said SHELTON was at the door and pushed her way out and then 
kicked him with her Right leg in the chest (despite the fact her right leg is impaired and 
partially paralyzed), but he testified that SHELTON, after he entered her cell, raised both legs 
up and kicked him in the chest (again the neurologist testified this was physically impossible for 
SHELTON to do from a wheelchair due to a long standing spinal cord injury (congenital and 
acquired).  
 
Also, how could she bump him starting from a dead stop a few feet away with weak arms? He 
claimed no injury from this “kick”, but said he was thrown against the cell door, WHICH HER 
HAD TESTIFIED THREE TIMES WAS OPEN, thus DERAILING HIS TESTIMONY and making it 
unbelievable. 
 
SHELTON’S PHYSICIANS, DRS. BRILLER AND VERN, TESTIFIED THAT THIS WAS IMPOSSIBLE DUE 
TO HER WEAKNESS AND NEUROLOGICAL DISORDER, even without the wheelchair being 
broken (tread missing from right wheel so metal hitting floor tending to just make wheelchair 
wheel spin with no traction). THIS TESTIMONY WAS UNREBUTTED BY A PHYSICIAN – SO 
ACCORDING TO CASE LAW THE COURT WAS REQUIRED TO FIND SHELTON NOT-GUILTY AS 
COMPETENT MEDICAL EVIDENCE CANNOT BE IGNORED BY THE COURT OR REFUTED BY 
NONMEDICAL TESTIMONY. In Interest of Ashley K., 212 Ill.App.3d 849, 156 Ill.Dec.925, 571 
N.E.2d 905, 930 (Ill. App. 1st Dist.. 1991) Obviously, the Illinois Appellate Court, therefore 
ignored the law in upholding the conviction, as the State provided no medical expert 
testimony refuting SHELTON’s doctor’s testimony. 
 
The Trial Court erroneously refused to allow defense counsel to ask questions about the 
incident report or present the incident report to the jury to impeach Salemi. Ineffective 
defense counsel failed to enter incident report as an offer of proof. Defense counsel failed to 
call to the witness stand key witnesses that could testify that the wheelchair was broken and 
SHELTON was unable to move it with force, or that SHELTON had several severe asthma attacks 
just prior to the incident or that the medical staff had illegally drugged SHELTON against her will 
hours before the alleged incident rendering SHELTON even weaker, more uncoordinated and 
somewhat confused and disinhibited, as well as failed to enter this information as an offer of 
proof. This was ineffective assistance of counsel and not mere trial strategy. 
 
SHELTON was illegally convicted of felony battery to an officer due to this perjury, insufficient 
assistance of counsel, prosecutorial misconduct, and judicial errors that did not allow 
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SHELTON to present all evidence and witnesses, and WHICH IGNORED HIGHER CASE LAW 
PRECEDENT. 
 
You can read SHELTON’s appeal on line at: 
https://cookcountyjudges.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/appeal-brief-for-publication-6-10-
09.doc . The evidence, Salemi’s incident report and ER report describing his injuries, which is 
INCONSISTENT WITH AND CONTRARY TO HIS TESTIMONY, making his testimony or his incident 
report false or PERJURED, and you can read the Illinois Appellate Court opinion proving that 
the Appellate Court made an outrageous, malicious, unlawful order affirming conviction 
based on FALSE STATEMENTS ABOUT CONTEMPT CASES, which were NOT ON THE RECORD 
and IGNORING CASE LAW AND FACTS PRESENTED BY SHELTON  ON THE RECORD. You can read 
the opinion on line at:  https://cookcountyjudges.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/decision-
affirmed-5-14-2010.pdf 
 

ENDNOTE ii: 
 
Trial was held without notice or due process. The state elected on case 09M1223774 until 

12/3/12, when three days before trial they changed the elected case  to 11-M1-241978. 
 
THEREFORE, THERE WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT NOTICE OF TRIAL AND 

INSUFFICIENT TIME FOR COMPULSORY PROCESS!  
 
THUS CONVICTION IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND MUST BE OVERTURNED. 
 
THE ADA WAS GROSSLY VIOLATED AS SHELTON WAS FORCED TO REPRESENT 

HERSELF WITHOUT ACCOMMODATIONS FOR DISABILITIES AND THEREFORE, 
WAS DISORGANIZED, EMOTIONAL, IN CONSTANT PAIN, AND MILDLY 
INCOHERENT AT TRIAL 

 
The jury’s findings in case 11-M1-241978 were based on hearsay and perjury by state 

witness and denial of Defendant’s right to present her defense case to the jury due to the 
judicial and prosecutorial misconduct described in the following, which void the trial and the 
jury’s findings. This is particularly true in relation to the defense of outrageous government 
conduct which was de facto quashed by Judge Chiampas in her refusal to allow introduction of 
evidence provided in the offers of proof and use of witnesses subpoenaed by Defendant.(See 
attached memorandum of law about outrageous government conduct) 

 

https://cookcountyjudges.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/appeal-brief-for-publication-6-10-09.doc
https://cookcountyjudges.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/appeal-brief-for-publication-6-10-09.doc
https://cookcountyjudges.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/decision-affirmed-5-14-2010.pdf
https://cookcountyjudges.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/decision-affirmed-5-14-2010.pdf
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Defendant also renews her petitions for writs of habeas corpus filed in June 2012 in this 
case and all alleged cases of other bad acts AND STILL PENDING! (falsely alleged bad acts 
allowed to be discussed at trial by this court and  the States Attorney in 11-M1-241978, without 
a motion by the state over the objection of defendant), thus biasing jury. This habeas petition 
was filed in this court file, by J. Nicolas Albukerk, an attorney and courier for Defendant, and 
illegally denied a new civil case number and date for hearing by the Circuit Court of Cook 
County Clerk, then this act of Clerk misconduct was condoned by this Court by its repeated 
refusal to transfer it to the presiding judge in the First Municipal Division. Therefore the 
suspension clause of the constitution was violated as was 735 ILCS article X, and this trial was 
held without jurisdiction because the Court committed constitutional violations which would 
have caused this case to be dismissed under the habeas petition, as well as conspired to 
prevent hearing of the habeas petition, still technically pending. 

 
This court had no jurisdiction to hear this case on November 27, 2012 to December 6, 

2012 as two motions for SOJ for cause were pending as Judge Chiampas without transferring 
them to another judge illegally dismissed these two motions. Per Curtis v. Lofy, 394 Ill. App..3d 
170, 176 (2009) this caused her to lose jurisdiction as of May 29, 2012 when another motion for 
SOJ for cause was filed with this court, as well as again lose jurisdiction when she again 
dismissed a 3rd motion for SOJ for cause filed on or about July 23, 2012 and a 4th motion for SOJ 
for caused verbally presented during trial (to the best of defendant’s recollection). 

Motions for dismissal due to speedy trial were pending as of November 27, 2012 to Dec. 
6, 2012 because Judge Chiampas violated stare decisis (previous higher court precedent) in 
dismissing several motions for dismissal due to speedy trial violations, thus voiding her 
dismissal orders as acts of judicial misconduct and constitutional as well as statutory violations. 

 
A motion to dismiss all six misdemeanor cases including this one and the five approved 

for use as evidence of other bad acts in 09 MC1 223774-01, but never in this case, for fraud 
upon the court was pending and never heard, illegally quashed by Judge Chiampas on May 
21, 2012 and then again illegally dismissed between Nov. 27, 2012 and Dec. 6, 2012 when 
Judge Chiampas declared all previous motions in this case but not in the other five 
misdemeanor cases re-denied. As fraud vitiates all proceedings, this case is void ab initio due 
to blatant lies by complainants in this case and in alleged other bad acts presented to this court 
by the state. Defendant re-asserts her actual innocence in all these cases.  

 
The statements of witness Ateca, were blatant lies in that Defendant did not push her 

walker into her while sitting down on Aug. 23, 2011 and Ateca and her partner were not 
walking at her side to the elevator. The truth is that Ateca walked in front of Defendant to the 
elevator while her partner walked behind Defendant. Then Ateca purposely slowed down so 
that Defendant would accidentally bump into Ateca’s ankle. Defendant at that point said 
“excuse me” and Ateca then said “now I can charge you with battery” in a continuance of her 
official misconduct and harassment of Defendant on that day, instigated by orders of A/C 
Nolan as explained in motion.  
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Adding insult to injury, the court failed to ask Shelton if she wanted free transcripts and 

the clerk to file a notice of appeal. 
 

ENDNOTE iii: 

Arrest and UNCONSTITUTIONAL 16 MONTH SUMMARY sentence, the first of three wrongful 
convictions and jail sentences for contempt in one (1) hearing (consecutive sentences of 120, 
180, and 180 days = 16 mos., with illegal order prohibiting statutory good time credits), 
occurred on May 11, 2010 case no ACC100083-01, when Petitioner (“Shelton”) was in the 
Courtroom of CCCC Presiding Criminal Division Judge Biebel, who was “at a CBA meeting” and 
Judge McHale was sitting in his stead. Shelton had filed two (2) next-friend Petitions for Writ of 
Habeas corpus, 10 HC 00006 & 10 HC 00007, on April 20, 2010, on behalf of Cameroonian 
Annabel Melongo (“Melongo”) who was wrongfully charged, without probable cause, with 
felony eavesdropping, a violation of 720 ILCS 5/14-2 (now declared unconstitutional), for 
recording a phone conversation with a court reporter without their consent, CCCC case no. 10 
CR 8092, and felony remote computer tampering, CCCC case no. 08 CR 10502 (later dismissed).  

Judge McHale VIOLATED the following statutes and higher case law (stare decisis): 

A) violation of IL Substitution of Judge ("SOJ") as Right Statutes, 735 ILCS 5/2-1001, which 
make all orders given after denial of this SOJ as a right void (Curtis v. Lofy, 394 Ill.App.3d 170, 
176 (2009));  

B) in violation of Habeas Statutes, 735 ILCS Art X which allow a person to file an habeas 
petition on “behalf of another”;  

C) in violation of  Good Time Jail Allowance statute, 730 ILCS 130, which gives jurisdiction for 
such credits to the county sheriff and not the judge;  

D) in violation of IL sentencing statutes requiring concurrent sentences for the same conduct 
or acts occurring during the same state of mind, per 720 ILCS 5/3-3 and People v. Brown, 235 
Ill.App.3d 945 (1992) and in violation of U.S. Supreme Court per stare decisis: Sacher v. United 
States, 343 U.S. 1 (1952) [forbid sentencing for more than one count of contempt during one 
trial or case];  

E) in violation of the Illinois and U.S. Supreme Court and Illinois Appellate Court holdings 
which:  
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      1) require jury trial if sentences exceed 6 months individually or in aggregate for contempt 
(Bloom v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 194 (1968); Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145 (1968); Codispoti v. 
Pennsylvania 418 U.S. 506 (1974));  

      2) require jury trial if contempt sentence is summarily imposed on a day other than the 
day in which the contemptuous act occurred (In re Marriage Betts, 200 Ill.App.3d 26 (1990); 
Winning Moves,Inc., v. Hi! Baby, Inc. 238 Ill.App.3d 834 (1992); Kaeding v. Collins, 281 Ill.App.3d 
919 (1996)), and  

     34) specifically state it is legal for a non-attorney to file a next-friend petition for writ of 
habeas corpus (U.S. ex rel. Toth v. Quarles, 350 U.S. 11, 76 S.Ct 1 (1955) and Boumediene v. 
Bush, 553 U.S. 723, 128 S.Ct 2229 (2008)).  

THESE SENTENCES BY JUDGE MCHALE WERE ACTS OF FELONY TREASON, A VIOLATION OF 18 
U.S.C. §2381, PUNISHABLE BY A SENTENCE OF 20 YRS. TO LIFE, PER PREVIOUS HOLDINGS 
AND/OR DICTA OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT INCLUDING:  

      1) That the judges in U.S. v. Will, 449 U.S. 200 (1980) affirmed the statement of Chief Justice 
Marshall in Cohens v. Virginia, 6 Wheat. 264, 5 L.Ed 257 (1821) that it is “treason on the 
constitution” when a judge “usurps [the jurisdiction] that which is not given”; and  

      2) That it is a “war on the constitution” when a judge knowingly violates his oath of office 
to support it [including supporting statutes of a state = due process], Cooper v. Aaron,358 U.S. 
1, 78 S.Ct. 1401(1958).  

In addition, vigorously arguing that a judge is violating the law and quoting higher case law in 
support of this issue is not contempt:  

Defending a contempt charge by vigorously quoting law is not contemptuously insulting the 
court,  Sacher v. United States, 343 U.S. 1 (1952);  People v. Siegel, 68 Ill.Dec. 118; People v. 
Powell, 187 Ill.Dec. 774, United States v. Oberhellmann, 946 F.2d 50.  

Shelton claimed that there was no probable cause for either charge against Melongo [later 
true as the eavesdropping law was declared unconstitutional in her case by the Illinois 
Supreme Court.] The eavesdropping charge has been subsequently dropped in July 2012 
because it was ruled “unconstitutional”. Eight (8) years later the habeas petitions have still not 
been heard, resulting in unconstitutional jailing of Melongo for two years, and the four (4) 
errant judges have not each been forced to pay Melongo $1,000 for violating her right to have 
a habeas petition on her behalf heard by the CCCC per 735 ILCS 5/10-106.  

THEREFORE THE COOK COUNTY STATES ATTORNEY HAS A CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST WHEN PROSECUTING CASES AGAINT SHELTON AS THEY ARE 
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COVERING UP THE CRIMINAL VIOLATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS UNDER COLOR OF 
LAW BY A NUMBER OF COOK COUNTY JUDGES AGAINST SHELTON AND 
MELONGO. 

Shelton had earlier attempted on April 20 and May 5, 2010 to have heard these two (2) next-
friend PWHC, under 735 ILCS 5/10-101 et seq., on behalf of Melongo, an acquaintance who had 
come to her as a confused foreigner  more familiar with Roman rather than English law, with a 
difficult to understand accent (since much improved), concerning representing herself pro se on 
false charges against her by the CEO of a now defunct and clearly questionable agency now 
known to have fraudulently obtained government funding, Save-A-Life-Foundation (“SALF”), 
who had accused Melongo of remotely tampering with their computer to delete their financial 
files, just as an investigative reporter was questioning how they spent their government grants.  

Shelton then filed two next-friend habeas petitions on April 20, 2010, in the CCCC Criminal 
Division  with the hope that Melongo would be appointed an attorney and a French translator 
so that she could plead that there was no probable cause and obtain a release from jail with a 
lower bail and/or dismissal of the fraudulent charges. They were untimely summarily stricken 
October 1, 2010.  

Shelton was familiar with habeas procedures as she had successfully filed a next-friend 
habeas petition in 2009 (CCCC case number 09 MR 00025), on behalf of Maisha Hamilton, and 
the defendant was appointed an attorney by Judge Biebel, Kent Law School Professor Coyne in 
2009 , resulting in Hamilton’s release in Sept. 2009. 

Habeas statutes, 735 ILCS 5/10-119, and the rules of the CCCC, Rule15.2(d), require that a 
petition for writ of habeas corpus (petition) be heard quickly by the presiding judge of the 
criminal division where the case is being heard. CCCC presiding Criminal Division Judge Biebel 
was not available the day the petition was filed on April 20, 2010. The court division supervising 
clerk, Peggy Anderson, told Shelton that the substitute judge, Joseph Kazmierski, after being 
called by the clerk made a verbal order to the clerk to send Shelton and her petition to the Trial 
Judge, Mary Margaret Brosnahan, despite the fact that the CCCC rule 15.2 requires habeas 
petitions to be heard by the division’s presiding judge. 

Shelton went to Judge Brosnahan’s courtroom and Judge Brosnahan as Shelton was walking in 
the door, taking no more than a few moments to read the petitions, told the deputies to kick 
her out of the courtroom as Judge Brosnahan would not hear the petition because “a person 
other than the defendant or an attorney may not file documents in a defendant’s case.” 
Judge Brosnahan  wrote on the order in abbreviated form “Leave to File Denied” This was a 
void order and act of judicial misconduct as no leave to file is required for a habeas petition 
under 735 ILCS Article 10. 

Shelton then went to Acting Presiding Criminal Division Judge Kazmierski’s courtroom and 
requested to be heard. Judge Kazmierski stated he would not hear the petitions because they 
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were filed by a non-attorney who therefore did not have standing. He made no written orders 
and there was no court reporter. Again this was a void order and act of judicial misconduct as 
735 ILCS Article 10 specifically authorizes a next-friend to file an habeas petition “by some 
person in his or her behalf”. 

Shelton returned to the courthouse on May 7, 2010 and again requested the CCCC Clerk to 
motion the petition up before Judge Biebel who supposedly was present. However, when 
Shelton arrived at his courtroom she was told he was not present and substitute Judge Wadas 
would hear the petitions. Shelton went to Wadas’ courtroom. Judge Wadas then also refused 
to hear the petitions because they were filed by a non-attorney. After reviewing the petitions 
for no more than a few minutes and listening to Shelton’s argument that it would be a criminal 
act for the judge to refuse to hear the habeas petitions, with Shelton citing U.S. Supreme Court 
cases, Judge Wadas denied the habeas petitions. Again this was a void order and act of judicial 
misconduct as 735 ILCS Article 10 specifically authorizes a next-friend to file a habeas petition 
“by some person in his or her behalf”. 

Shelton told each judge that allowed her to speak (Kazmierski and Wadas), in open court, 
that they were violating Illinois Habeas Statute, 735 ILCS 5/10-103 and the U.S. Supreme 
Court holdings in Boumediene v. Bush, (2008) 553 U.S. 723, as well as the Constitution Art. I, 
Section 9, Habeas Clause. They ignored these statements and, despite being fully informed of 
the law, RULED IN VIOLATION OF STATUTE, THUS DENYING DUE PROCESS, that only an 
attorney or the defendant has standing to file a PWHC. 

Case law and statute specifically holds that it is legal for a non-attorney to file a next-friend 
petition for writ of habeas corpus. U.S. ex rel. Toth v. Quarles, 350 U.S. 11, 76 S.Ct 1 (1955) and 
Boumediene v. Bush, 553 U.S. 723, 128 S.Ct 2229 (2008), and 735 ILCS Article 10 [“on behalf of 
another”] 

 Of course, according to 735 ILCS 5/10-103 a petition for writ of habeas corpus could be filed 
“by some person in his or her behalf”, so all of these judges’ statements are false, and it was 
illegal for them to refuse to hear the habeas petitions. ACCORDING TO 735 ILCS 5/10-106 
EACH OF THESE JUDGES AND JUDGE MCHALE MUST BE FINED $1,000 WHICH IS TO BE PAID TO 
MELONGO FOR VIOLATING THE HABEAS STATUTE AND REFUSING TO HEAR OR GRANT THE 
HABEAS PETITION.   

Illinois Attorney General Lisa Madigan has failed to charge these judges and collect the fines 
to be paid to Melongo, or make any effort to force judicial compliance under 735 ILCS 5/10-
106, IN VIOLATION OF HER OATH OF OFFICE. 

 Shelton again tried to have the petitions heard on May 11, 2010 before CCCC Presiding 
Crim. Div. Judge Biebel. Judge Biebel was again absent from the court, as has been his practice 
for some time now, and Judge McHale was sitting in his stead. McHale, without any formality in 
opening the proceeding, asked if Shelton was an attorney. Shelton said “no”. Then Shelton 
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asked to make a record [in order to state why she needed to file as a next-friend and to present 
case law and statute allowing next-friend filings for such a petition].   

 Unlike with attorneys who are routinely allowed to make a record to aid the court, 
McHale cut Shelton off saying “we need to get some things straight here”, thus showing 
discrimination and bias against Shelton. 

 Shelton quickly stated that 735 ILCS 5/10 (Illinois civil procedure statute on Habeas 
Corpus) specifically allowed petitions to be filed by “other person on her behalf,” and that “this 
is the only place in the law when non-attorneys can file [on behalf of another person].”  

Judge McHale, SNUBBING HIS NOSE AT STATUTES AND THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT, 
said: “I don’t read it that way.”   

Shelton by then surprised, shocked, and astonished and by that time worn down by the 
lawlessness of the CCCC judges interrupted politely stating: “Oh, excuse me, the United States 
Supreme Court reads it that way.”   

Judge McHale refused to hear the next-friend habeas pleadings. Judge McHale was acting 
extrajudicially in these cases in failing to follow the law – essentially ignoring it and DE FACTO 
OVERTURNING 735 ILCS Article 10. Prehearing discussion over jurisdiction of Judge McHale 
regarding these next-friend habeas pleadings occurred as follows: 

The following discussion then was recorded by the court reporter and appeared on the 
transcript – note that Shelton’s Motion for In Forma Pauperis Status was never considered and 
therefore is still pending: 

THE COURT: Whoa, whoa, We are not going to get very far if you’re going to interrupt me. 

MS SHELTON: Then I want to continue to Judge Biebel [A poorly worded request for 
substitution of judge as a right, due to constitutional violations by McHale]. (EXHIBIT D4-5 line 
21-24 & 1) 

Note that at the beginning of this preliminary discussion about the case, Judge McHale had 
offered to transfer the case to Judge Biebel, when Shelton stated that she thought that habeas 
petitions must be heard by the presiding judge, but when McHale answered her question 
affirmatively as to if he was going to follow statutes, Shelton CONDITIONALLY waived transfer 
to Presiding Judge Biebel, as long as Judge McHale “followed the law”. Under Illinois law, 
when SOJ as a right or for cause is requested the Trial Judge immediately loses jurisdiction and 
must transfer the case to the presiding judge, unless the SOJ motion is insufficient on its face. 
(735 ILCS 5/2-1001; Curtis v. Lofy, 394 Ill.App.3d 170, 176 (2009)) Judicial notice is given that it 
is standard practice in the CCCC to allow a litigant time to prepare a written motion when they 
orally request a SOJ.  



Page 29 of 49 

 

Shelton was not given leave to file a written motion for SOJ when Judge McHale then violated 
Illinois Habeas law in refusing to hear the next-friend habeas petitions. As Shelton’s 
agreement to allow McHale to hear the petitions was contingent upon him following the law, 
his failure to follow the law waived his right to hear the petition and invoked Shelton’s 
request for SOJ as a right so that Judge Biebel would hear them. Therefore, ALL OF JUDGE 
MCHALE’S SUBSEQUENT ORDERS WERE VOID AS LACKING JURISDICTION FOR THIS REASON 
ALONE. 

THE COURT: No, We have already started the hearing –  

MS SHELTON: I did this before for another defendant and yet - -  

THE COURT: Ms. Shelton, if you don’t let me talk I’m going to take you into custody. Now be 
quiet. 

MS SHELTON: You can do whatever you want. 

THE COURT: All right, be quiet. 

MS SHELTON: You can’t violate the law. Then, you know, I have to come back to Judge Biebel 
this afternoon. 

THE COURT: Ms. Shelton, the habeas petition says “the defendant or another,” and I take 
“another” to be a licensed attorney in the State of Illinois You are not - - You have no right to 
file these things - - 

MS SHELTON: Excuse me, Excuse me, your Honor, You are committing treason. It is an act of 
treason - - 

THE COURT: Take her in the back. Take her in the back. [emphasis added] 

MS SHELTON: - - for a Judge to refuse to hear - - 

THE COURT: You are in contempt - -  

MS SHELTON: - - a next friend petition. 

(EXHIBIT D5 line 2 to D6 line 5) 

Shelton was taken into custody on a charge of contempt of court and five (5) hours later, 
when she was convinced she was found in contempt simply for filing a next-friend habeas 
petition, and THIS WAS AN ILLEGAL ACT OF TREASON BY A ROGUE JUDGE, Shelton was 
brought back to the courtroom. However, the Sheriff Courtroom officers during that time 
tortured Shelton by refusing to take her to a bathroom so that Shelton had to urinate on the 
floor of the holding cell. They also refused to allow her to take needed medication for pain and 
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vertigo in violation of the ADA. They used that incident as proof that Shelton is “crazy” in their 
continuing defamation of Shelton. THIS WAS AN ADA VIOLATION AS WELL AS AN ACT OF 
TORTURE. 

Shelton immediately stated firmly that: (1) even the U.S. Supreme Court allows Guantanamo 
Bay prisoners to have next friends, like fathers, file habeas petitions, and (2) due to U.S. 
Supreme Court holdings in Cooper v. Aaron, (1958) 358 U.S. 1 and U.S. v Will, (1980) 449 U.S. 
200 FN 19 a judge who knowingly violated the law and U.S. Supreme Court holdings is violating 
his oath of office and committing an act of treason.  

Judge McHale said Shelton could say whatever she wants. Shelton said what needed to be 
preserved on the record about McHale violating statute, Suspension clause, and U.S. Supreme 
Court holdings. A short heated discussion ensued where Shelton re-emphasized that McHale 
was acting illegally in refusing to hear the petitions, his acts were treason thereby voiding his 
orders and removing his jurisdiction as judge on the case per Will (supra) and McHale saying 
three times either “I haven’t yet decided your sentence” or “let me talk.” Both Shelton and 
McHale spoke rapidly, loudly, passionately and interrupted each other . Judge McHale again 
refused to listen and shut up Shelton by ordering her to be placed in the holding cell.  

Shelton again was forcibly removed to the lock-up without any hearing on the petitions for 
Melongo and one (1) hour later brought back into the courtroom. After statements by McHale 
asking Shelton if she would be quiet and Shelton responding that she does not cooperate with 
traitors, in a sort of angry truce-like atmosphere, McHale stated that he held Shelton in 
contempt for “interrupting him” and calling him a “traitor” on the first contempt case [ HE 
APPARENTLY IS A TRAITOR ACCORDING TO U.S. SUPREME COURT DEFINITIONS]. McHale then 
let Shelton speak. 

Upon bringing Shelton out from the holding cell a second time, Shelton stated that orders from 
traitors are invalid and as a citizen she was obligated to protect the constitution and therefore 
she was obligated to say that without jurisdiction due to his treason she was placing Mr. 
McHale under a citizen’s arrest for violation of civil rights under color of law. Sheriff staff 
refused to arrest the judge. Shelton knew this was a futile statement, though true, but simply 
wanted to preserve it on the record.  

Shelton stated that:  

(1) she had tried to present petition to three (3) other judges who all refused to hear it or 
denied it with void orders;  

(2) specific case law she quoted requires judges to hear next-friend habeas petitions, which is 
one of the most important rights in the Constitution, or they were violating law, the United 
States Supreme Court, and the  Constitution in acts of treason as well as violating due 
process; 
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(3) Judge McHale had also violated the U.S. Supreme Court, State law, and the Constitution in 
acts of treason; and  

(4) JUDGE MCHALE’S TREASONOUS ACTS FORFEITED HIS JURISDICTION AND VOIDED HIS 
ORDERS. [THIS IS  A TRUE STATEMENT, ACCORDING TO U.S. SUPREME COURT CASE HOLDINGS] 

Shelton also gave a brief summary of documents and evidence that she had attached to 
Melongo’s habeas petitions proving that there was no probable cause to arrest her on either 
charge or to detain Melongo, per the 4th Amendment . 

THE DEFENDANT : On April 20th, I filed an emergency petition for writ of habeas corpus on 
behalf as the next friend on behalf of Annabelle, A-n-n-a-b-e-I-1-e, M-e l-o-n-g-o, who is being 
held on a charge of computer tampering without probable cause.  

I have the documents from the police officers saying she's been arrested because she remotely 
tampered with a computer of Save a Life Foundation, which is a shady nonprofit corporation 
that filed for voluntary dissolution in September that was the subject of four expose by Emmy 
winning ABC Chicago investigative reporter Chuck Goudie 

Those 2006 reports have serious questions about Save a Life Foundation's fundraising claims 
and about the nearly nine million in state and federal funds obtained fraudulently by Save a Life 
Foundation to provide first aide training in Chicago Public schools. 

For example, Spizzirri, head of Save a Life Foundation, claims she had a BS degree in nursing, 
and she was actually a candy striper. Her 2004 grant application submitted to the U.S. Senate 
for Disease Control and Prevention, where she got a three million dollar grant fraudulently, she 
represented herself as a nurse when she was a candy striper. 

She has been declared a paranoid schizophrenic by Wisconsin courts.  She’s a master 
manipulator. She is the – the politicians including Lisa Madigan, Arnie Duncan, Jan Shenkowski 
(phonetic), and many others including senator Durbin, helped her, without due diligence, 
obtain over nine million dollars fraudulently.  

Arnie Dunkin, who was quoted by Chuck Goudie, an investigative reporter. As saying "yeah, we 
[g]ave her fifty thousand dollars a year for several years, but we don't have any proof she 
actually used it to train children.” 

This is all in the hands of the FBI Special Agent Depooter, D-e-p-o-o-t-e-r, as an investigation of 
massive fraud that was allowed by the lack of due diligence of those prominent politicians I 
mentioned. She should be arrested for fraud. 

Spizzirri, the head of CEO of Save a Life Foundation shortly after Chuck Goudie asked her what 
she did with the money, she fired Ms. Melongo, who was their IT representative and she went 
to the police and said "oh, we can’t show you what we did with our money because she 
[Melongo] remotely erased all of our financial records. 
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The police said the financial records were erased using a Comcast Internet provider and a 
Comcast IP address. We subpoenaed the records from Comcast. They say Ms. Melongo had 
never had an account with them, and that is not her IP address.  

So se have absolute proof that there is no probable cause that she has an S[B]C account and 
never could have access to computers [via Comcase]. 

This is a cover up by a known liar, manipulator [Spizzirri] to try to hide the fact that she misused 
nine million dollars and got it fraudulently. 

So I have written a petition for writ of habeas corpus with this documentation proving this 
corruption and fraud proving Ms. Melongo is being falsely held without probable [cause] in 
violation of the Fourth Amendment of the Constitution.  

I went to give it to judge to present it to Judge Biebel. Judge Biebel in the past I presented a 
petition for writ of habeas corpus on behalf of Maisha Hamilton Last September, and Judge 
Biebel said yes, a non-attorney can file a habeas petition, and he assigned Professor Coyne from 
the Kent school of 1ar, and she eventually got out of jail. 

Biebel was not here on April 20th, so the clerk told me to go to Judge Kazmierski. Judge 
Kazmierski refused to hear the habeas petition, sent it to, Judge Brosnahan who is the trial, 
Judge.  

Judge Brosnahan said she refused to hear it because she said that no non-attorney or non-
defendant can file a habeas petition. 735 ILCS Article 10 says specifically that an attorney can 
file a habeas, the defendant can file a habeas, and another person on behalf of the defendant, 
whom the U.S. Supreme Court calls a next friend, can file a habeas petition. 

So this is legal and Judge Brosnahan was wrong. Judge Kazmierski was wrong- Then on April 
5th, I mean, May 5, excuse me, May 5th. I came back to try to present it to Judge Biebel. Judge 
Biebel again was not available. I was sent to Judge Wadas. Judge Wadas, again, violated Article 
735 ILCS and said oh/ a non-attorney/non defendant cannot file a habeas petition. 

The U.S. Supreme Court in U.S. versus Boudine [Boumediene], B o-u-d-i o-u-n-e, I believe I may 
have spelled it wrong, within the last two years ruled and held on a case brought by the 
prisoners in Guantanamo Bay that the grant writ of habeas corpus Article 1 section 9, United 
States Constitution does -- cannot be suspended on American soil. Guantanamo Bay is 
American soil whether you're an alien like Ms. Melongo, who’s a dual citizen of Haiti and 
Cameroon, and a next friend such as the Guantanamo Bay's parent/ detainees parents or friend 
can file a habeas petition. 

That is Part of the Constitution of the United States, and part of the Constitution of the State of 
Illinois, and it is immortalize in the statutes in Article 10 135 ILCS. 
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Therefore -- also 735 ILCS says if a Judge does not promptly hear the habeas, which the U.S. 
Supreme Court has ruled to be within 72 hours, then they are to be fined a thousand dollars to 
be paid to the defendant. The State’s Attorney or the Illinois Attorney General is supposed to 
prosecute these judges. 

Therefore, I tried again today to present the habeas to Judge Biebel. When I came into this 
courtroom Judge McHale again said that since I am not an attorney I could not file a habeas. 
Judge McHale has also violated 735 ILCS Article 10, United States constitutions Article 1 Section 
9, and the United States Supreme Court holdings, and U.S. versus Boudine [Boumediene]. 

United States Supreme Court in Eric Cooper versus Aaron in 1958 ruled that when a judge 
violates the Constitution, violates the Law, he has violated his oath of office. United States 
Supreme Court in U.S. versus Will, 1980, ruled that when a judge violates his oath of office he 
has committed treason. 

The concept of voidness there is plenty of case law that says when a judge violates the law his 
orders are of no effect. They are void and he has no jurisdiction. Therefore, all four of these 
judges’ orders are void and they have no jurisdiction. They are committing treason. 

They are traitors. Acts of traitors are illegal. Any authority they have as a judge is lost when they 
commit treason, when they consciously, knowingly, violate the U.S. Constitution, the laws of 
the state, and the holdings of the United States Supreme Court. 

Therefore, I do not recognize Judge McHale's authority. He blatantly in front of a whole gallery, 
courtroom full of attorneys who should under their oath of office, including the state's 
attorneys and the public defenders, should have stood up and said, judge, you cannot violate 
the Constitution because by not acting they were aiding and abetting the act of treason. 

I do not condone treason. I will not cooperate with traitors. I tried to tell this Judge reasonably 
that he was violating every -- the basic most basic aspects of American law He refuses to listen, 
and I have no choice but to verbally as strongly as I can and consistently as I can refuse to 
condone or participate with acts of traitors. Judge Michael McHale is a traitor. He should be 
arrested and punished under the laws of treason of the United States and he should be 
arrested and punished by the U,S. attorney and federal courts for violation of 42 U.S.1842 
[242]- 42 USC, which is - - I  am not saying it right. It’s conspiracy to violate rights of law, 
conspiracy to violate rights under color of law. It’s paragraph 242 of the Federal code of 
criminal procedure. 

THE COURT: Anything further? 

THE DEFENDANT: Any of those could be 20 years to life. This judge should be impeached.  

. . . 
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So I will not cooperate whatsoever. Any officer or any court personnel who participates and 
carries out the void orders of this judge are aiding and abetting an act of treason and are 
subject to the same punishments and penalties and sanctions that the judges are punishable 
under the Federal Code of Criminal Procedure, the act against treason and against act against 
conspiracy to violate rights under color of law. years to life. This judge should be impeached. 

So I am being held illegally, Ms. Melongo is being held illegally. This is anarchy and it’s time to 
fight it. 

 

Finally, Shelton explained that Judge Biebel, Judge McHale’s supervisor, had eight (8) months 
earlier allowed her to file a similar petition for writ of habeas corpus as a next-friend for Ms. 
Hamilton and that as a result Judge Biebel appointed Hamilton an attorney who eventually 
helped to win Ms. Hamilton’s freedom.  

Judge McHale then, without a jury, SUMMARILY sentenced Shelton to 120 days in the Cook 
County Department of Corrections (“CCDOC”) WITHOUT STATUTORILY REQUIRED 
ADMONISHMENT as to right of appeal for sentence or conviction, including the right to ask 
the court to order the clerk to file the notice of appeal for the defendant, as required by 
Illinois Supreme Court Rule 605 and Shelton was too quickly removed to request the court to 
file a notice of appeal.  

Judge McHale then said that the second contempt case was for during Shelton’s second 
appearance before him that day “interrupting” him and not allowing him to speak, yelling in 
saying his orders were void and calling him a traitor and a jackass for committing treason. 

On May 12, 2010 Judge McHale wrote that Shelton was charged with criminal contempt (first 
“case” =  ACC100083-01) , not for what he said in court, for filing a next-friend PWHC as a non-
attorney, but for “interrupting him,” and stating that he committed “treason” (a true 
statement as his acts and orders were treasonous)  and held second charge (he called second 
“case”) of criminal contempt sentence in abeyance until Shelton received an exam for fitness 
which he ordered on May 11, 2010. His fitness exam order was not based on any specific fact 
as Shelton spoke rationally, intellectually, and with clear knowledge of case law in her 
allocution, spelling out with specificity why Judge McHale’s actions holding her in contempt 
and refusing to hear the next –friend habeas petitions not just were illegal, concerning first 
contempt charge, but were criminal violations of the Constitution Suspension Clause, U.S. 
Supreme Court case law (U.S. v. Will, (supra), Cohens v. Virginia (Supra), and Illinois statute (735 
ILCS 5/10 et seq). His illegal orders had an appearance of harassment against Shelton and 
retaliation for Shelton writing a blog exposing corrupt acts of CCCC judges:  

http://cookcountyjudges. wordpress.com,  
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not only in the criminal court division concerning Melongo, but also in the CCCC Domestic 
Relations division case (including pleadings leading up to U.S Supreme Court case 11-10790, 
later written by Shelton as a paralegal for pro se litigant Bambic) and CCCC Probate Division. 
(Re: case no. 10 P 6117).  

In Illinois, a defendant is presumed fit to stand trial and will be considered unfit only if, because 
of the defendant’s mental or physical condition, the defendant is unable to understand the 
nature and purpose of the proceedings against him or her or to assist in his or her defense. 
People v. Griffin, 178 Ill.2d 65, 79 227 Ill.Dec. 338, 687 N.E.2d 820 (1997). Clearly Shelton had no 
issues of fitness. The actions against Shelton by Judge McHale and subsequently by Judge 
Chiampas in CCCC case 11 MC1241978 have the appearance of retaliation for Shelton’s 
complaints of corruption in the Circuit Court of Cook County and for her previous suits against 
judges who acted with no jurisdiction. 

Shelton also had a history of objecting to illegal proceedings and acts of judges in the CCCC 
child abuse court cases where she regularly had advocated for her pediatric patients parents, 
many of whom had been wrongfully accused of child abuse or neglect, as a pediatrician and 
medical director of a psychiatry group practice. Shelton had already helped win a major Federal 
Civil Rights case against Illinois Department of Children and Family Services as a medical fact 
witness, Dupuy v. Samuels, 397 F. 3d 493 (7th Cir. 2005), had served as an “authorized 
representative” and won a DCFS child abuse finding appeal for a wrongfully accused parent, 
C.H., and Shelton has prevailed thus far on 27 of 34 false arrests ,including these three, and 
malicious prosecutions brought against her, in the last 15 years (1 pending), mostly for 
contempt, wrongful allegations of trespass, disorderly conduct, or assault/battery of an officer 
(“bumping” them with her wheelchair or walker – when in fact the officers assaulted her or 
walked in front of her walker so that she would bump them) in courthouses while she was 
defending herself,  court watching, or serving as a courier for other pro se litigants.  

Convictions besides the three contempt convictions just described were: 

(1) two for contempt for telling the judges they were violating the law,  

(2) one for felony battery when Sheriff Correctional Sgt. Salemi committed perjury 
and stated Shelton “bumped” him with her wheelchair “skinning his shins” (the injuries were 
too high to have been caused by the wheelchair footrests!) [he attacked Shelton by grabbing 
her neck with his hand choking her and causing the wheelchair to roll backwards resulting in 
him stumbling downward rubbing ad skinning his shins on the footrests – then pulled the 
wheelchair out from under Shelton while flipping her out on the floor (Shelton had much more  
serious and extensive contusions which were agreed evidence presented to the jury verbally 
[as the jail refused to take pictures of Shelton’s injuries, which included 3 incubi 4 inch bruises 
between her thighs, finger marks on her neck and other contusions])– as doctors gave 
testimony unrefuted by any medical testimony from the State that Shelton was physically 
unable due to disabilities to commit the crime, the ILLINOIS APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN 
REFUSING TO OVERTURN CONVICTION IN CCCC CASE # 15 CR 12718, 1ST DIST. APPELLATE 
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CASE # 07-3386, per  In Interest of Ashley K., 212 Ill.App.3d 849, 156 Ill.Dec.925, 571 N.E.2d 905, 
930 (Ill. App. 1st Dist.. 1991)]and  

(3) one for battery times two [impermissible variance in complaint and evidence], 
disorderly conduct [legally insufficient complaint], trespass to real property [legally insufficient 
complaint as building was State property and there was no  allegation of interrupting anyone’s 
use of services or the building], resisting arrest [illegal violation of ADA as Shelton has 
neurologic tremors and spasticity making it obvious that she would be unable to be still when 
arrested] where Sheriff Courtroom Officer Ateca perjured herself and said Shelton bumped her 
with her walker, while sitting down in the hall of the courthouse at 50 W. Washington, Chicago 
IL – where she had delivered as a courier a court document asking for a rescheduling due to the 
litigant suffering a serious accident at work with a possible broken  spine – the court clerk, a 
400 lb. man unidentified threw the documents on the floor in front of the judge’s bench during 
hearing of another case, after Shelton had quietly along the side of the courtroom approached 
the Clerk’s courtroom desk and hand delivered the document while whispering that she was a 
courtier for a litigant who was not going  to appear due to a life-threatening accident, in CCCC 
case # 11 M1 241978, when in fact, the officer while harassing Shelton [under unlawful orders 
of  the supervising Sheriff officer in the Daley Center order the Sheriffs to do, walked in front of 
Shelton, while Shelton was walking to the elevator, causing an accidental bump into her foot 
[Sheriff Officer Arce testified, making false statements an act of perjury, in CCCC case # 11 M1 
241978, that Shelton while sitting pushed her walker into the officer causing “insulting contact” 
- Not available as free transcript denied by Judge Chiampas despite indigency in CCCC case # 11 
M1 241978, with no post-trial admonishments about right to appeal]. Note that Shelton, 
besides being given inadequate notice – only three days notification before the trial of trial 
date, was denied her witnesses, medication to control pain, nausea, dizziness, and flashbacks 
during the trial in violation of the ADA and Reed v. State of Illinois, 2015 7th Circ. 14-1745, as 
well as of the Due Process Clause of te 5th Amendment and 14th Amendment as applied to the 
states. 

False arrests and malicious prosecutions continued with unconstitutional excessive bail so 
Shelton spent much time unlawfully jailed and denied access to the courts (refused access to 
law library, law librarian refused to research any issue and for months only provided copies of 
cases if given their citations, refused access to paper, pen, stamps, envelopes due to 
unexplained denial of access to commissary for months– this was not denial of access due to 
usual conditions of incarceration.) There are at least 16 instances of Sheriff Deputies who 
attacked, assaulted, or battered Shelton under illegal orders of Cook County supervisory 
Assistant Chief Sheriff William J Nolan. Then to cover-up their acts of harassment and 
retaliation for Shelton bringing suit against their colleagues, the Sheriff Deputies under orders 
of, harassment by, and illegal acts of Asst. Chief Sheriff William J. Nolan made false criminal 
charges against Shelton, which repeatedly caused Shelton to miss appeal deadlines and 
federal court dates and caused her suits to be dismissed for want of prosecution, when she 
was denied even written access to the courts to request extension of time or a writ to bring her 
to the courtroom.  
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Shelton filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on May 26, 2010 regarding the first contempt 
conviction against her, ACC00083-01 and it was transferred to Judge Porter and denied on June 
9, 2010 after a brief hearing lacking due process, with Judge Porter completely ignoring the fact 
that the habeas was not about argument with Judge McHale’s order, but was about such 
extreme statutory and constitutional violations by Judge McHale that his orders were void ab 
initio. Judge Porter ignoring the arguments dismissed the PWHC. Shelton was given no notice 
and therefore was unable to call witnesses or prepare her argument, or was she appointed an 
attorney, in an act of judicial misconduct denying due process.  

After Judge McHale in prehearing discussion stated that Shelton committed contempt by 
violating the law for filing a next-friend habeas petition as a NON-attorney, but then in an act of 
impermissible variance writing the next day that the contempt charge was for interrupting him 
[by legally objecting to his violation of law and quoting U.S. Supreme Court holding defining 
acts of treason by a judge], Judge McHale found Shelton summarily in contempt on two (2) 
more counts, which he illegally called separate cases for the same alleged act of contempt of 
court. (CCCC cases # ACC 100083, ACC 100093, and ACC 100094) 

Judge McHale, however in acts of impermissible variance (as the written charges and 
complaints do not comport with the transcripts said Shelton was charged with a second “case” 
(legally a count) of criminal contempt during same hearing on May 11, 2010 during allocution, 
CCCC case no. ACC 100093-01, and sentenced on June 10, 2010 to 180 days in jail to be 
consecutive to ACC 100083-01. Shelton was charged with a 3rd “case” (legally a count) of 
criminal contempt on June 10, 2010 during allocution and sentenced on June 10, 2010 to 180 
days in jail consecutive to other charges. Contempt was allegedly for Shelton’s “repeated 
interruptions of the court and her continuous yelling” as well as calling the judge a “jackass” on 
the second charge and for “again interrupted the court by yelling over him” and saying “I don’t 
give a damn” and after sentencing while shocked and extremely frustrated, “fuck you” on the 
third charge. Total summary sentence was 16 months with an illegal order denying statutory 
good time jail credits.  

As Judge McHale, due to his official misconduct and violation of the U.S. and Illinois 
Constitutions as well as 735 ILCS Article 10 had lost jurisdiction, all his orders are void. This 
lack of jurisdiction sprang from:  

(1) Failure to transfer case to Judge Biebel per SOJ as a right;  

(2) Failure to provide any semblance of due process;  

(3) Exceeding his jurisdiction in ignoring 735 ILCS Article 10;  

(4) Impermissible variance; and  
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(5) Acting in a treacherous and treasonous manner by violating his oath of office in an extreme 
and pervasive manner in ignoring the Constitution and laws of the State as well as case law as 
described above.  

See:Schlup(supra); Jiffy Lube International (supra); Eckel v. MacNeal, 256 Ill. App. 3d 292, 195 
Ill. Dec. 277, 628 N.E.2d 741 (1993)[judgment void when no due process]; Johnson v. Hawkins 
(1972), 4 Ill.App.3d 29, 32, 280 N.E.2d 291; Johnson v. Johnson, 34 Ill.App.2d 356, 340 N.E.2d 
68 (1975)  [A party cannot waive a procedural due process right, at 365-66]; Potenz Corp. v. 
Petrozzini, 170 Ill. App. 3d 617, 525 N.E. 2d 173, 175 (1988); In re Sawyer, 124 U.S. 200 (1888); 
Elliot v. Piersol, 1 Pet. 328, 340, 26 U.S. 328, 340 (1828); Cooper v. Aaron, (1958) 358 U.S. 1, U.S. 
v Will, (1980) 449 U.S. 200 FN 19 citing Cohens v. Virginia, 6 Wheat. 264 (1821)2 

The facts of knowing violation of oath of office and extreme plus pervasive violation of the 
U.S. and Illinois Constitutions as well as total violation of due process in regards to 735 ILCS 
Article 10, removes Judge McHale’s jurisdiction over the cases regarding habeas and 
contempt. Eckel (supra) 

Shelton became increasingly frustrated with court acts/orders in her attempts to have heard 
her next-friend habeas petition on behalf of Melongo, which were by then VOID due to 
intentional constitutional, statutory, and due process violations by the Court, as well as total 
lawlessness by Judge McHale, condoned and aided by the Cook County State’s Attorney and all 
members of the bar who were present in the courtroom and failed to speak up, including 
Professor Daniel Coyne of the Kent School of Law, whom Judge Biebel had appointed to 
represent Maisha Hamilton on a next-friend habeas petition that Shelton filed for her in 
September 2009 case 09 MR 00025.  

Judge McHale then put on hold the sentencing of the second “Case” of contempt and ordered 
a fitness exam (“BCX”) stating that Shelton’s second appearance was so intense and passionate 
that he questioned her fitness and “held off” on deciding 2nd contempt sentence until fitness 
exam results received. Hearing was continued to June 10, 2010.  

SUMMARY SENTENCING ON A DAY OTHER THAN THE DAY OF CONTEMPT ACT REQUIRES A 
FULL DUE PROCESS JURY TRIAL per Illinois Appellate Court previous rulings. In re Marriage 
Betts, 200 Ill.App.3d 26 (1990); Winning Moves,Inc., v. Hi! Baby, Inc. 238 Ill.App.3d 834 (1992); 
Kaeding v. Collins, 281 Ill.App.3d 919 (1996). Yet, no trial was allowed. 

                                                           
2 NOTE: Shelton had claimed before being charged in ACC 100083-01 that filing a next-friend habeas petition was 
legal and that refusing to hear it claiming she had no standing was judicial treason, which removed Judge McHale’s 
jurisdiction over the cases. (SCA D9-24) Shelton knew at that point that ALL of Judge McHale’s orders were now 
VOID due to this treachery per Cooper v. Aaron, (1958) 358 U.S. 1, U.S. v Will, (1980) 449 U.S. 200 FN 19 citing 
Cohens v. Virginia, 6 Wheat. 264 (1821). 
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Shelton in the CCDOC had great difficulty accessing the courts or communicating with anyone 
due to denial of access to the courts as explained in U.S. Supreme Court Case 11-10814, where 
this Hon. Court was also a Respondent (a Petition for Writ of Mandamus by Linda Shelton 
presented to the U.S. Supreme Court). In summary concerning denial of access to the courts, 
the Cook County Sheriff bars detainees on medical or psychiatric units from accessing the Cook 
County Jail Law Library directly, without regard to their medical condition, status regarding 
segregation, or status regarding security risk. Shelton is disabled, requiring frequent medical 
monitoring and medications and therefore was housed while in jail on the medical unit. The law 
librarian tells detainees that she will not do legal research or answer legal questions. She will 
only provide cases or statutes if the detainees provides her a full citation, despite their lack of 
access to the law library in violation of Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817 (1977). 

Thus there is de facto denial of access to the courts for any detainee at CCDOC who does not 
have physical access to the law library (all those on medical, psychiatric, and segregation units). 
In addition, if on a psychiatric unit, detainees are denied access to paper, pen, books, or 
documents as these are barred from their cells and books can only be read in front of staff and 
cannot be taken into a cell. One piece of paper and one envelope is provided weekly with a pen 
under a one hour supervised period so that each detainee may write one letter per week.  

This is de facto denial of access to the courts and a violation of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (“ADA”), which void the proceedings. Reed v. State of Illinois, 2015 7th Circ. 14-1745 

Shelton, although not requiring treatment on the mental health unit, has been intermittently 
held on the psychiatry unit, purposely to impede her access to legal material and her ability to 
represent herself.  No paper, pens, pencils or documents are allowed in possession of 
detainees on the mental health unit per policy of the CCDOC. Guards have also told her that 
she was placed there to prevent her providing legal information to other detainees. She has no 
psychiatric diagnosis except for non-violent post-traumatic-stress disorder with symptoms of 
nightmares and daytime flashbacks resulting from beatings by police. Her psychiatric records 
prove that she has been abused by jail staff as does an article by her psychiatrist written as an 
editorial in the United States’ leading journal on psychiatry and the law. In fact in this editorial 
nationally renowned forensic psychiatrist, Dr. Richard Rappaport, rails against the abuse of 
Shelton by the courts and jail in claiming she is mentally ill and abusing her with psychotropic 
drugs. 

Shelton was able to obtain a blank petition for writ of habeas corpus after two weeks in jail and 
fill it out during an attorney visit using her attorney friend’s pen (who came to visit her in jail) 
and give it to her attorney friend to file for her pro se with the court. Since Shelton was denied 
paper, pen, stamps, envelopes, and legal materials, she asked her attorney friend, Albukerk, to 
copy, file, and motion up her habeas petition, as well as have friends serve it appropriately. 
Shelton had dictated by phone and had published on an International Internet news site, for 
which Shelton at the time was an independent contractor, hired as a citizen reporter to write as 
their “Cook County Government Examiner [reporter]” to report news about corruption in Cook 
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County. This article in detail described this case and the treasonous actions of Judge McHale in 
illegally jailing Shelton.   

Most judges in the CCCC criminal division are aware of Shelton’s writings on the Internet, 
including in her blog about CCCC judicial corruption with evidence, 
http://cookcountyjudges.wordpress.com, where incompetent or criminal acts of numerous 
judges including Judge Kazmierski, Judge Brosnahan, and Judge Cannon are described and 
published in detail. This is the factual basis as to why most of the CCCC criminal judges are 
angry at Shelton and biased against Shelton, behind the scenes a known activist and whistle 
blower. This has been verified by others, who will remain anonymous for their safeties, who 
have overheard conversations by judges in the CCCC criminal division.  Shelton is willing to 
provide their names only to the FBI, U.S. Attorney, or court if they are granted protection. 

Shelton while incarcerated in 2010 had to slowly gather legal research by writing to her friends 
or telling them during a once weekly visit what she wanted to research and wait for them to 
research it and send her by mail the case law. Therefore, it took months for her to write her 
motions challenging the conviction or sentence. 

Shelton’s family hired attorney Albukerk to write a motion to try to free her. Without transcript 
and without consulting further with Shelton, Albukerk wrote an emergency motion to grant bail 
and rescind sentence. The prosecutor had fraudulently represented to him that Shelton was 
summarily jailed for contempt of court because of a foul mouthed outburst. The transcript 
proves this a false statement Albukerk therefore argued that:  

(1) since contempt requires intent the judge’s order for fitness exam admits the court had 
significant questions as to if Shelton’s acts were willful and knowing so summary finding of 
contempt was incompatible with the court not having all relevant facts before it and is a denial 
of due process (People v. Meyers, 352 Ill.App.3d 790 (2004) See also People v. Sheahan, 150 
Ill.App.3d 572 (1986), and it is “incumbent on the court to afford the defendant [Shelton] an 
opportunity to fashion a defense based upon an affirmative defense of insanity.” People v. 
Wilson, 302 Ill.App.3d 1004, 1006 (1999);  

(2) the court’s holding was legally in error per 735 ILCS 5/10-103 [IL Habeas Statute] and federal 
law, 28 U.S. C. 2242 that it was illegal for a non-attorney to file a next-friend habeas petition – 
Albukerk expressed the belief of Shelton that this was the court’s basis for the contempt 
finding;  

(3) the court’s holding that Shelton’s use of the words traitor and treason was an act of 
contempt should be dismissed as these terms were  used to make legal arguments based on 
case law and therefore was not meant to embarrass, hinder, or obstruct the court – Shelton 
quoted in open court United States v. Will’s (supra) footnote 19, citing Cohens v. Virginia, 6 
Wheat. 264 (1821) [To argue a judge has knowingly exceeded his jurisdiction, as Shelton said 
happened when Judge McHale over-ruled Illinois Habeas Law, Constitution Art I, Section 9, and 

http://cookcountyjudges.wordpress.com/
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U.S. Supreme Court dicta/holding in Boumediene v. Bush (supra), is to argue a judge is a traitor 
and committed treason in an act of knowingly violating law.]; and  

(4) continuing to hold Shelton in jail for contempt will cause multiple non-parties great hardship 
– as Shelton’s father was dying, Shelton was his power of attorney, and family affairs and bills 
would not be cared for in her absence with the potential loss of a home.  

Then on June 3, 2010 after Attorney Albukerk made a Motion to Rescind Sentence and Grant 
Bond based on case law that one cannot be held in contempt if there is a question of fitness per 
People v. Meyers, 353 Ill.App.3d 790, 182 (2004); People v. Wilson, 302 Ill.App.3d 1004, 1006 
(1999) and that it was legally  incorrect for Judge McHale to state that it is illegal to file a Next-
Friend Habeas Petition as a non-attorney Judge McHale claimed he never actually had a bona 
fide doubt of Shelton’s fitness This is belayed by his statements and order for a fitness exam. He 
also claimed that he did not find Shelton in contempt for filing a next-friend habeas petition as 
a non-attorney, but for her statements interrupting him.  This is inconsistent with what he said 
on May 11, 2010 documented in the transcript. It is also not sufficient to find someone in 
contempt according to higher case law precedent where it was held that a vigorous defense 
was not contempt.3 Shelton was vigorously trying to defend herself against Judge McHale’s 
lawless act of defying State Habeas Corpus Law and the Suspension Clause and interrupting 

                                                           
3 Defending a contempt charge by vigorously quoting law is not contemptuously insulting the court,  Sacher v. 
United States, 343 U.S. 1 (1952);  People v. Siegel, 68 Ill.Dec. 118; People v. Powell, 187 Ill.Dec. 774, United States v. 
Oberhellmann, 946 F.2d 50.  

“We will reverse a finding of direct criminal contempt if the contemner can show that his conduct was a good-faith 
attempt to represent his client without hindering the court’s functions or dignity.” In re Marriage of Bartlett, 305 
Ill.App.3d 28 (1999).  

Search for essential elements of crime of contempt must be made with full appreciation of contentious role of trial 
counsel and attorney’s duty to zealously represent client’s interests, if conduct complained of is that of attorney 
engaged in representation of litigant; vigorous, independent bar is indispensable to system of justice. People v. 
Griffith, 247 Ill.App.3d 21 (1993)  

Even though defense counsel may have been overzealous or improperly sarcastic at times, record disclosed that 
his conduct in courtroom constituted good faith attempt to represent his client’s without hindering court’s 
functions or dignity and therefore did not constitute direct contempt of court. People v. Miller, 51 Ill.2d 76, 21 
N.E.2d 292 (1972)  

Although provocation is not a defense, the circumstances of the underlying proceedings may be weighed to 
determine whether the offense of criminal contempt was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. . In re Marriage of 
Bartlett, 305 Ill.App.3d 28 (1999); People v. Pearson, 98 Ill.App.2d 203, 240 N.E.2d 337 (1968)  

In determining whether direct criminal contempt has occurred, the reviewing court may consider provocation by 
the trial court and erroneous trial court rulings that may have triggered the contemnor’s comments. Bartlett, id  
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him was appropriate as ANY DEFENSE COUNSEL HAS A RIGHT TO OBJECT TO THE FALSE 
STATEMENTS OF THE COURT.  

Shelton refused to answer questions of psychiatric examiner, because Shelton will not follow an 
illegal and unjustified order and Judge McHale then sue sponte declared her fit on June 3, 2010 
and on June 10, 2010, without a professional opinion as to fitness. 

The next-friend Petitions for Writ of Habeas Corpus have never been heard. Melongo was in 
jail until July 2012 when the eavesdropping charge was dropped and bail was reduced from 
$300,000 on the computer tampering charge to the original I-Bond on just the computer 
tampering charge.  

Judge McHale heard Albukerk’s motion on June 3, 2010 and denied arguments #2 and #3 
stating he did not hold Shelton in contempt for filing the habeas petition but because she 
“interrupted me four times during her first appearance [a statement NOT compatible with the 
transcript of 5/11/10 ] and “the manner in which the defendant (Shelton) conducted herself in 
open court that led to her [2nd] contempt [finding]” [referring to his previous statement that 
defendant yelled to the gallery and attorneys in the room that the judge’s actions were ‘illegal” 
thus making “a complete spectacle of herself and creating a circus-like atmosphere in the 
courtroom.:]. Then Judge McHale states that there was no question of fitness and Shelton may 
have been an overzealous advocate during her second appearance after she was taken into 
custody illegally in violation of all law. Shelton alleges that Judge McHale brought the court 
into disrepute and that his orders are void and that any statements she made were true and 
correct. Judge McHale de facto admitted that Shelton had no intent to commit contempt of 
court by stating that Shelton was overzealous admitted that she had not intent for contempt 
and just was using a vigorous defense. 

Judge McHale continued his argument as to fitness because “a mere concern on my part that 
the defendant might have fitness issue does not rise to a bona fide question as to her fitness.” 

Judge McHale immorally as to argument #4 said Shelton if she had concerns for her family (in 
a snide, disrespectful spectacle unbefitting a judge) should have thought of that before 
committing contempt, also stating he understood from a POA attached to habeas petition by 
friend filling it that Shelton gave POA to a friend so this was not an issue  [this was a false 
statement by Judge McHale as friend only had POA over personal and not family’s or 
Shelton’s dying father’s affairs.]  

Shelton then on June 3, 2010 said she wished to fire her attorney [for lack of funds] and 
Albukerk was granted leave to withdraw. Shelton had said she had not seen or discussed 
motion before argument and wanted to file a different motion but was denied access to the 
courts by CCDOC including legal research, paper, stamps, and envelopes. She moved orally for 
an order from the court granting her physical access to the law library and these materials 
and it was granted, but greater than 10 weeks later she was still denied access to the law 
library. Judge McHale delayed hearing a motion for rule to show cause. 
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Faretta admonitions were not given by the Trial Court in granting self-representation even 
with fitness exam pending. Shelton moved for standby counsel due to lack of access to law 
materials. This was denied.  

Shelton then orally moved for a stay of sentence pending appeal and due to family hardship 
noting her friend did not have POA over family affairs. [She knew that federal case law held 
that a stay of sentence is mandatory unless there was an issue of dangerousness when the 
sentence was shorter than the time it takes to appeal or the appeal is moot – yet as she was 
barred from access to the law library and her friends had yet to mail her research on this issue, 
she was unable to quote the case, which she now knows is: St. Pierre v. United States, 319 U.S. 
41, 63 S.Ct. 910, 87 L.Ed. 1199 (1943)]. This case, despite Shelton having completed the 
sentence, is not moot as there are still collateral consequences that per this Honorable Court’s 
decision in Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40 at 52, 88 S.Ct. 1889, 20 L.Ed.2d 917 (1968) allow an 
exception to the mootness doctrine. This is shown due to the fraudulent conviction of Shelton 
in 2007 for felony battery to an officer (falsely alleging “bumping” [from testimony at trial in 
August 2007] him with her wheelchair causing an abrasion) when she is actually innocent [the 
basis of another Motion for Supervisory order in preparation for this Court], and the 
subsequent decision by the Illinois Appellate Court to illegally, in violation of all tenants of due 
process, affirm this conviction, not based on the issues but based on an ad hominem attack 
against Shelton concerning the contempt convictions in this case before this bar, as well as 
ignoring the fact that Shelton’s physicians gave unrebutted testimony that she was too 
disabled to actually commit the alleged acts constituting the alleged offense.  

On June 3, 2010 Judge McHale denied stay of sentence because of the fitness exam. This is a 
direct violation of the statute on fitness exams 725 ILCS 5/104-13(d) that states that a 
defendant may not have bail revoked or be incarcerated for the purpose of a fitness exam. It 
is also a violation of previous U.S. Supreme Court opinion that if an appeal takes longer than 
a sentence then due process requires that the defendant be released during the pendency of 
the appeal. St. Pierre (supra). 

JUDGE MCHALE’S VIOLATION OF STATUTE AND PRECEDENT cruelly caused Shelton and her 
dying father tremendous uncalled for and inhumane mental stress by keeping her 
incarcerated during the appellate process [which was illegally stopped by the IL Appellate 
Court in an act of corruption denying her in forma pauperis petition] thus depriving Dr. Lorincz 
of the comfort of his primary caregiver, companion, and daughter, Shelton, during the last 
several months of his life. He had wanted to die at home, but was transferred to six different 
facilities, by a mentally ill family member and corrupt attorney who took advantage of Shelton’s 
incarceration to exploit their father, during the three months prior to his death and deprived of 
companionship of his daughter who had cared for him for several years due to the immoral 
cruelty of Judge McHale. Shelton still has nightmares of her father scared and suffering and 
prolonged mental stress (diagnosed as post-traumatic-stress-disorder) as a result of this 
immoral order.  
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JUDGE MCHALE’S CONDUCT WAS TREACHERY, TORTURE, AND TREASON. JUDGE MCHALE’S 
ILLEGAL MISCONDUCT HASTENED THE DEATH AND INCREASED THE SUFFERING OF DR. 
LORINCZ.  

The CCDOC also committed extreme cruelty by refusing to inform Shelton of her father’s death 
on Sept. 10, 2010, and breach of contract by removing Shelton from the funeral home where 
thy took her to view her father’s body after her family paid $400 after just five (5) minutes 
because she was crying and forbidding her from praying over the body. 

Judicial notice is given that appeals in Cook County criminal court are taking greater than two 
(2) years. This motion for stay of sentence during appeal was entered and continued due to 
fitness exam pending – in a heartless, unethical, and unconstitutional act by Judge McHale.  

Shelton moved to vacate the order for a fitness exam saying it was res judicata as several other 
judges had ordered exams, them withdrawn their order and Shelton was a pro se Plaintiff in 
several cases pending before the state and federal court, with no issues of fitness. Her oral 
motion was denied.  

Shelton moved to vacate all Judge McHale’s orders as his act of treason made all subsequent 
orders void stating she could not give authorities due to lack of access to courts. Motion was 
denied.  

Judge McHale entered and continued Shelton’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (an 
ILLEGAL ACT as a petition for writ of habeas corpus is an expedited matter of the highest 
importance according to statute) and entered and continued Shelton’s oral motion to 
schedule hearing on her Melongo habeas petitions, which are still pending five (5) years later. 
Both are now moot charges being dismissed, but the public interest exception to the mootness 
doctrine should be invoked. Judicial notice is given that lack of hearing a petition for writ of 
habeas corpus “forthwith” is a violation of 735 ILCS 5/10-103. Note also that 735 ILCS 5/10-106 
requires that a judge who does not hear a petition for writ of habeas corpus “forthwith” is to 
be fined $1,000 to be paid to the defendant.  

The hearing was continued again to June 10, 2010.  

On June 9, 2010 Shelton’s petition for writ of habeas corpus on 1st contempt case or conviction, 
ACC 100083-01, was presented before substitute Acting Presiding Criminal Court Judge Porter, 
as Judge Biebel was again unavailable. Judge Porter denied it stating that in Illinois habeas law 
is very limited and habeas petitions can only be granted if sentence completed and defendant 
was still in custody or if judge had no jurisdiction to convict defendant. Judge Porter ruled that 
even if Judge McHale made an error in refusing to hear Melongo habeas petition, his error did 
not cause him to lose jurisdiction for finding defendant in contempt.  

Shelton objected stating that due to Judge McHale’s violation of Illinois law, constitution, and 
U.S. Supreme Court holding that next-friend non-attorney habeas petition filings  are legal, 
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Judge McHale’s order was void and all subsequent orders were void and not voidable, as a 
judge who commits treason immediately loses jurisdiction  [due to lack of access to legal 
resources except those mailed to her by a friend and a few cases brought to her by CCDOC law 
librarian – who only gives detainees cases if she gets full citation – in three (3) months the 
CCDOC law librarian  had refused to respond to ANY requests for legal research by keywords, 
physical access to all detainees housed in infirmary  - Shelton is disabled and was housed in 
infirmary – top officer for infirmary Supt. Martinez, had refused to obey Judge McHale’s 
written order to give Shelton physical access to the law library stating that he “didn’t have to 
obey court orders” - - Shelton could only state an authority for a distantly related issue. In 
Illinois in a civil case if motion to substitute judge is improperly denied despite mandatory 
statutory requirement for compliance – all subsequent orders of that judge are void. Jiffy Lube 
International, Inc. v. Agarwal, 277 Ill.App.3d 722, 727, 214 Ill.Dec. 609, 661 N.E.2d 463 (1996)] 

Although Shelton did not mention Judge McHale Denied Substitution of Judge [as a right] as a 
reason Judge McHale lost jurisdiction in habeas petition before Judge Porter on 1st contempt 
conviction, waiver of this issue on appeal does not apply as this involves fundamental due 
process constitutional rights not subject to waiver, and the fact it would be a grave miscarriage 
of justice to allow a judge who lost jurisdiction to deny constitutional right to liberty without 
due process. Also “challenges to void judgments may be raised at any time irrespective of 
principle of waiver.” People v Simmons, 256 Ill.App.3d 651. 

On June 10, 2010 Shelton was brought before Judge McHale and found to be fit without 
psychiatrist’s report upon pronouncement of Judge McHale after he read that the psychiatrist 
would not decide fitness without interviewing Shelton and Shelton refused to answer 
questions. Shelton had refused to answer psychiatrist’s questions because “She will not 
cooperate with traitors.” She considered order for fitness exam void as she considered all Judge 
McHale’s orders after he, in acts of treason, refused to hear Melongo’s habeas petitions and 
refused to transfer case to [Chief] presiding criminal Court Judge Biebel on May 11, 2010, in 
violation of 735 ILCS 5/2-1001(a)(2) [law for substitution of judge as a right]. McHale then 
sentenced Shelton to 180 days jail consecutive to first contempt sentence, as well as denied 
good time jail credits in violation of statute. 

In allocution on the 2nd contempt charge Shelton made essentially the same statement that she 
presented on May 11, 2010 that Judge McHale’s refusal to hear Melongo’s habeas petition was 
an act of treason for violating knowingly and willfully the constitution Article I, Section 9 
Suspension Clause, Illinois Habeas law 735 ILCS 5/10-101 et seq. and U.S. Supreme Court 
holdings [and dicta] in Boumediene v. Bush (supra), again citing Cooper v. Aaron (supra) and U.S. 
v. Will (supra) FN19 citing Chief Justice Marshall’s exposition in Cohens v. Virginia (supra) that 
“usurping [the exercise of jurisdiction] that which is not given . . . [by a judge] would be an act 
of treason.”].  
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A heated discussion followed with both Shelton and McHale interrupting each other and taking 
over each other. Shelton stated that McHale had forfeited his authority as a Judge by his 
misconduct.  

Judge McHale then summarily ordered that Shelton may not make any allocution regarding 3rd 
contempt finding and he summarily found Shelton in contempt in a 3rd “case” for “interrupting 
him and a for a vulgar comment as she was led out of the courtroom” prior to his writing down 
the summary 3rd sentence of 180 days CCDOC consecutive to her contempt sentences (total 16 
months summary sentences). 

Judge McHale then in violation of statute, 730 ILCS 130/3.1, after ordering Shelton removed 
from the courtroom and without appointing the public defender to represent her modified 
the sentences by ordering that mandatory statutory day for day good time jail credits be 
denied, in violation of Codispoti v. Pennsylvania 418 U.S. 506 (1974). Each contempt charge was 
declared to be a separate case, with consecutive sentences, in violation of statute 720 ILCS 5/3-
3, requiring concurrent sentences for the same conduct or acts occurring during the same state 
of mind. 

After three (3) months in jail, a jail physician and the law librarian in August 2010 finally gave 
Shelton some paper to write motions and other detainees gave her pens to write with. She 
then wrote and filed by mailing them to friends who filed the numerous well written pleadings 
with appropriate citations she had received in the mail by friends or which she knew by 
memory including: 

1) Declaration of Shelton that Cook County Jail has Impeded her Ability to Access the 
Courts and refused to Transport Shelton to Court to Have Her 2nd Petition (prepared 
and filed by others after phone conversations) for Writ of Habeas Corpus Heard on 
August 23, 2010 re 10 HC 00012 filed August 23, 2010; 

2) Emergency 1401F Petition to Vacate Orders Denying Day for Day Credit; 

3) Response to People’s Motion to Dismiss Petitioner’s Request for Habeas Corpus 
Relief filed October 1, 2010; 

4) Petition to Vacate All Orders 5/11/10 & 6/10/10  for Failure to Substitute Judge as 
Right and Transfer 10 HC 0006 & 7 to Judge Biebel filed August 16, 2010;  

5) Motion for Substitution of Judge for Cause filed August 16, 2010; 

6) Emergency Petition 1401F to Vacate Sentences & Convictions because Vigorous 
Defense of Constitution and Civil Rights is Not Contempt Because of lack of Intent 
filed August 16, 2010; 

7) Memo in Support Vacate Sentences & Schedule Jury Trial filed August 16, 2010; 
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8) Second Emergency Motion for Stay of Sentence Instanter [pending appeal] filed 
September 3, 2010; 

9) Emergency Motion to Advance and Hear Instanter (1) Motion for Rule to Show 
Cause, (2) 2nd Motion for Stay of Sentence Pending Appeal, (3) Motion for Defendant 
to be Declared Indigent, (4) Motion to Fine Judges & (5) Next-friend habeas Petitions 
10 HC 00006 & 7 filed September 3, 2010; 

10)  Motion for Defendant to be Declared Indigent for Clerk to File Late Notices of 
Appeal & for Court Reporter to be Ordered to File Set of Free Transcripts with Clerk 
for Appeal & to Provide Set of Transcripts to Defendant & for Clerk to Prepare 
Record on Appeal filed September 3, 2010; 

11) Memorandum of Fact to Correct Judge McHale’s False Defamation Statements of 
6/10/10 filed September 3, 2010; 

On October 1, 2010 Judge McHale brought Shelton, acting pro se, to his courtroom and said he 
would hear her motions. IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS JUDGE MCHALE ORDERED THAT SHE 
MAY NOT OBJECT TO ANYTHING YET DID NOT APPOINT THE PUBLIC DEFENDER and he 
ordered that if she made any “disturbance” which he defined as anything Shelton had said in 
the past (presumably making objections, quoting the U.S. Supreme Court, or defending herself) 
that he would have her removed from the courtroom and would rule in her absence, thus not 
allowing any oral argument and SUE SPONTE VACATING SHELTON’S RIGHT TO A DEFENSE.  

 Then Judge McHale denied Shelton’s 2nd Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus stating she 
did not properly serve it, parroting the State’s improper response to the petition that it must 
be stricken for not following proper service upon them. Judge McHale claimed that per 735 ILCS 
5/2-203 the law requires all civil motion to be served by the Cook County Sheriff or a process 
server approved by the court. He dismissed Shelton’s 2nd Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and 
refused to send it to the Presiding Judge of the Criminal Division as required by Circuit Court of 
Cook County Rule 15.2. Judge McHale illegally refused to follow the dictates of 735 ILCS 5/10-
101 et seq. JUDICIAL NOTICE IS GIVEN THAT A PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS IS AN 
EX PARTE PROCEEDING AND NO NOTICE IS REQUIRED.   

When Shelton objected and tried to file her reply to the State’s response, which had claimed 
that the habeas petition should not be heard because it was not served according to the Illinois 
Code of Civil Procedure on the Cook County State’s Attorney and Judge McHale stated it was 
not served properly, Judge McHale ordered Shelton removed from the courtroom and thus 
DENIED HER ANY COUNSEL WHATSOEVER.  He then ruled ex parte on her all her other 
motions. 

Shelton had tried to state what she said in her written reply, that the Illinois Supreme Court in 
Henning v. Chandler, 229 Ill.2d 18 (2008) held that 735 ILCS 5/10-101 et seq. includes specific 
procedural provisions regulating habeas corpus actions, and these sections control over the 
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general procedural provisions contained in article II, known as the Civil Practice Law (735 ILCS 
5/1-101(b), 2-101 et seq. (West 2002)). Thus a petition for writ of habeas corpus is an ex parte 
proceeding and service is not required via the Cook County Sheriff on the Cook County State’s 
Attorney. The Petition must only be filed with the Court. Thus Judge McHale’s orders 
dismissing the 2nd Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is VOID ab initio, is therefore still 
pending, and must be heard nunc pro tunc. 

On October 1, 2010 Judge McHale ruled on Shelton’s motion in absentia, without presence of a 
public defender, ex parte as follows:  

(1) he vacated order denying day for day good time jail credits;  

(2) he dismissed Shelton’s Notice of Motion for Rule to Show Cause Why All Jail Supervisors and 
Sheriff Thomas Dart Should not be Held in Contempt of Court [for failing to give Shelton access 
to the law library] because she did not properly serve the motion to the State’s Attorney,  

(3) he denied Motion to Vacate All Orders for Failure to Substitute Judge as a Right with a 
circuitous argument that Shelton had allowed him to proceed [ignoring that she agreed he 
could proceed only if Judge McHale followed the law] and he had started to discuss her motion 
for writ of habeas corpus on behalf of Melongo, which is a false statement – he had just stated 
that she had no standing to bring that Petition so there was no formal hearing. McHale also 
claims that the case Shelton cited, Jiffy Lube International v. Agarwal (supra) was not on point 
because it applied to a motion for SOJ for cause and not on a motion for SOJ as a right, as 
Shelton had requested. McHale also said he denied the motion for SOJ as a right because her 
motion was not in writing, which was inconsistent with the common practice of continuing an 
oral motion for SOJ as a right until the litigant can put it in writing and file it.;  

(4) he denied Petition to Vacate Convictions and Sentences Because of a Vigorous Defense of 
Constitutional and Civil Rights. He claims none of cases cited in motion by Shelton that vacated 
contempt charges because they were vigorous and enthusiastic defenses rather than serious 
attempts to embarrass, hinder, or obstruct the court (thus showing no intent required to 
convict on a charge of criminal contempt) were applicable and instead stated that People v. 
Simak, 161 Ill.2d at 297 applied.;  

(5) he denied Emergency Motion to Vacate Sentences Due to Void lack of Jurisdiction stating 
that the Illinois Code of Criminal Offenses does not apply to contempt charges, in regards to 
allowing only one charge for the same state of mind.  He cited 720 ILCS 5/1-3 which states: “No 
conduct constitutes an offense unless it is descried as an offense in this code or another statute 
of the state. He stated that this statute does not affect the power of the court to punish 
contempt. Judge McHale incorrectly interprets Codispoti v. Pennyslvania (supra) to allow 
separate convictions as separate cases of contempt during the same hearing as long as they 
are temporarily separated, with each case allowing a sentence of 6 months without a trial;  
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(6) he denied Petition to Vacate Aggregate Sentences Exceeding Six Months due to this Hon. 
Court’s rulings in Codispoti (supra) as well as Bloom v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 194 (1968); and due to 
Illinois court rulings  In Re: marriage of Betts (supra), and People v. Collins 57 Ill.App.3d at 934.  
Judge McHale erroneously stated that each of these contempt convictions was a separate 
case which was not part of a single proceeding and therefore they were not aggregate 
sentences. He concluded that therefore, Shelton was not entitled to a jury trial. This is fantasy 
very inconsistent with the facts and the U.S. Supreme Court holdings, as well as Illinois State 
Appellate and Supreme Court holdings cited in this petition.  

Sentences were recalculated on October 1, 2010, due to the above filed motions and habeas 
petitions by Shelton. Note denying good time jail credits was a statutory violation of and a 
violation of this Court’s holdings in Codispoti v. Pennsylvania (1974) 418 U.S. 506. The orders to 
deny all good time jail credits were vacated. The order for ACC 100094-01 to be consecutive 
to ACC 100093-01 was changed to be concurrent. The Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was 
summarily denied without transferring it to another judge as required by law in an outrageous 
display of incredible judicial misconduct and violation of law. The motions to vacate all orders 
as well as all other motions were denied again in an incredible display of judicial misconduct 
and blatant mischaracterization of facts and law. 

Shelton appealed the three (3) contempt convictions (ACC 100083-01, ACC 100093-01, and ACC 
100094-01) to the Illinois Appellate Court, filing a timely notice of appeal on October 26, 2010. 
Judge McHale in violation of Illinois Supreme Court Rule 605(a)(1) refused to allow Shelton to 
request that the Trial Court order the Clerk to file a Notice of Appeal with free transcripts as 
she was indigent. Shelton therefore filed her own Notices of Appeal on October 26, 2012 with 
the help of friends and borrowed money from family, without the ability to pay it back, to 
purchase the transcripts, so she could appeal. Further unlawful arrests followed that impeded 
Shelton’s access to the courts and the appeal was dismissed for want of prosecution. 

 

 

 
 
 

 



Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to 735ILCS 5/109-1 I certify that the statements set
forth herein are true and correct, to the best of my knowledge.

June 7' 2018 
Submitted respectfully,

Vtu
Linda L. Shelton
Pro Se Defendant

Linda Lorincz Shelton, Ph.D., M.D.
4020 W. 105e Street
Oak Lawn, lL 60453
(630) 697-8263
Defendant Pro Se
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